Research Thesis

Aid Effectiveness of Fragile State: A Case of US Aid in Afghanistan in Post 9/11



Student's Name: Mati Ullah

Registration No: 2-FSS/MSIR/F13

Supervisors' Name: Dr. Manzoor Khan Afridi Head of the Department

Department of Politics & International Relations

Faculty of Social Sciences

INTERNATIONAL ISLAMIC UNIVERSITY

ISLAMABAD

2016



MS
370917
MAA
MAA

Eromonic de verlationent

2. Politica A Jovernment

Certification



am of thesis entitled 'Aid Effectiveness of Fragile State: A sistan in Post 9/11" submitted by Mati Ullah Reg. No 02-found satisfactory for the requirements of the degree of MS

Di Manzoor Khan Afridi

Department of Politics & IR, IIU1

External Examiner

Di Noman Omar Sattar

Director

Area Study Centre

Assistant Professor

Quaid-i-Azam University.

Islamabad

Internal Examiner

Di Manzoor Ahmad,

Assistant Professor

Department of Politics & JR IIU I

Head of Department

Dr Husnul Amın

Incharge Assistant Professor

Department of Politics & JR III 'I

Prof Dr Nabi Bux Tumani

Dean

Laculty of Social Sciences

International Islamic University

Islamabad

Table of Contents

		Page No
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	i
	ABSTRACT	ii
	LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	iii
CHAPTER I	INTRODUCTION	1
1 1	Methodology	4
CHAPTER II	THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	5
2 1	Ownership	7
22	Alignment	9
2 3	Harmonization	11
2 4	Managing Results	14
2 5	Mutual Accountability	16
	Conclusion	17
CHAPTER III	ADDRESSING US AID AND ITS PURPOSES	19
3.1	Agriculture Sector	19
3 1 1	Reestablishing the Agricultural Capability of Afghanistan	20
3.2	Democracy and Good Governance	21
3 2 1	Governance	22
3 2 2	Rule of Law	23
3 2 3	Support for Electoral Processes	23
3 2 4	Civil Society and Media	24
3.3	Economic Sector	24

3 3 1	Economic Development	25
3 3 2	Development and Growth of Private Sector	25
3 3 3	Economic and Business Management	26
3.4	Education Sector	26
3 4 1	Improvement in Primary Education	27
3 4 2	Improvement in Higher Education	28
3.5	Gender Sector	28
3 5 1	Entrepreneurship	29
3 5 2	Education and Health	29
3 5 3	Leadership	29
3.6	Health Sector	30
3 6 1	Immediate Healthcare Needs	30
362	Building capacity in Health System	31
363	Building Access to Healthcare by Private Sector	32
3 6 4	Humanitarian Assistance	32
3 6 5	Preparedness and Responds to Natural Disaster	33
366	Assistance of Emergency food and Food Security	33
367	Nutrition and Health	34
3.7	Infrastructure	34
371	Energy	35
372	Road	35
373	Sanitation and Water	36
374	Buildings	36
	Conclusion	37
CHAPTER IV	CHALLENGES AFFECTING US AID	39

4.1	Ongoing Challenges in Afghanistan	42
411	Inadequate Planning	43
412	Poor Quality Assurance	43
413	Poor Security	44
414	Questionable Sustainability	45
4 1 5	Pervasive Corruption	47
416	Concerns about Direct Assistance	48
4 1 7	Lack of Afghanistan's Capacity	48
4 ! 8	Imbalance between Executive, Legislative and Judicial Branches	49
419	Corruption	51
4 1 10	Forms of Corruption	51
4 1 10 1	Bribery	52
4 1 10 2	Education System	53
4 1 10 3	Graft in Customs System	53
4 1 10 4	Cash Smuggling	53
4 1 10 5	Nepotism and Patronage	54
4 1 10 6	Judicial Corruption	54
4 1 10 7	Corruption in Police Forces	55
4 1 10 8	Corruption in Military Forces	55
4 1 10 9	Kabul Bank Scandal	57
4 1 10 10	Zakhılwal Scandal	57
	Conclusion	
CHAPTER V	MISMANAGEMENT IN COUNTERING THE ISSUES, FRAUD AND WASTE	59

5.1	Mismanagement, Corruption and Waste	63	
511	Italian Made G222 Aircraft Case	64	
5 1 2	Missing \$300 Million on Police Salaries	65	
5 1 3	Daily Expense of United States Military	65	
5 1 4	Luxury Villas for TFBSO Unit	66	
5 1 5	Boats worth \$3 Million for a Landlocked Country	66	
5 1 6	\$4.3 Million for a Single Gas Filling Station	68	
517	Soybean Initiative worth \$34 Million with Failed Results	69	
5 1 8	Unused Communication Towers worth \$6.5 Million	70	
5 1 9	Countering Narcotics While It still hits high in the Sky	70	
5 1 10	Prison with Cotton Walls	71	
5 1 11	Roads built with \$2 Billion	72	
5 1 12	Unused Military Base	72	
5 1 13	Unneeded Military Base	73	
5 1 14	Afghanistan's Security Forces	73	
5 1 15	Hospital worth \$597929 in a Small Village	74	
5 1 16	Governance Programs worth \$400 Million	74	
5 1 17	Unfinished Courthouse worth \$396 Thousand	75	
	Conclusion	76	
CHAPTER VI	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	78	
	REFERENCES	83	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I express my heartfelt thanks to Allah Subhanahu Wata'aala who gave me strength to focus on my research work during hard times. I also thank my friends and colleagues, Mr Mohammad Amin Fazilyar and Mr. Mohammad Obaidullah Paiman distinguished members and lecturers in Salam University, Kabul, who supported me through their pearls of wisdom during the course of this research.

I would like to present my gratitude to the staff of Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit (AREU) in their unlimited support and access to their rich library and staff of Library of National Assembly of Afghanistan. It is indeed worth to mention the generous support of Madam Gulalai Akbari Deputy Head of Defense Committee in Senate (Upper House of Parliament of Islamic Republic), senator of Badakhshan for her precious time and comments about the task

Finally my deepest gratitude to my family who encouraged me throughout the time of my studies, without their support I could not have reached to this achievement

1

ABSTRACT

In 2002 United States started pouring aid to Afghanistan to rebuild the broken infrastructure and bring peace and prosperity to the war torn country. Since then United States and International Community as donors joined the adventure with United States and committed themselves to support Afghanistan's Millennium Goals. The aim of the international aid was mainly to strengthen the governance, respond to security threats and to provide capacity building training to army personnel and civil servants, establishing fruitful institutions, creating opportunities for people, build economic machinery to the country. The focus of research is about utilization of aid in Afghanistan and the challenges, both for government of Afghanistan and the United States. The research is focused on provision of US aid from 2002 – 2014. It has explored the areas where and how the US aid was spent. The effectiveness is examined with the principles of aid effectiveness in fragile states.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADB Asian Development Bank

ANDMA Afghanistan's National Disaster Management Authority

ANDS Afghanistan National Development Strategy

ANP Afghanistan National Police

APPF Afghanistan Police Protection Force

IDA International Development Association

IWA Integrity Watch Afghanistan

MEC Monitoring and Evaluation Committee

MoD Ministry of Defense

MoE Ministry of Education

MoF Ministry of Finance

MoM Ministry of Mines and Petroleum

MoP Ministry of Public Health

MT Metric Ton

NATO North Atlantic Treaty Organization

OCHA Organization for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs

OECD-DAC Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development –

Development Assistance Committee

SAM Severe Acute Malnutrition

SIGAR Special Inspector General for Afghanistan Reconstruction

TFBSO Task Force for Business and Stability Operations

UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

UNICEF United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund

USAID United States Agency for International Development

USWDP University Support and Workforce Development Program

WASH Water & Shelter, Samitation & Hygiene

WB World Bank

WHO World Health Organization

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

According to World Bank report (2014), Afghanistan is a low-income country with income per capita of \$700 in 2014. The country currently ranks 172 in the Human Development Index (HDI). New York Times article (2011) indicates that the country is heavily reliant on foreign aid and aid accounts for more than 90 percent of the national budget. Many of the nation's sectors are currently poorly developed. World Bank report (2014) mentions that the country's infant mortality rates are high at 16.7 percent, literacy levels are low at 38 percent and unemployment levels are high at 35 percent.

Afghanistan's government was established after the intervention by US aerial forces and the ground support of country's armed forces called Northern Alliances, formed in 1996 to fight Taliban, active and operative in the north of the country Rashid (2000) mentions in his book "Taliban", about resistance that made up of the several other forces the northern alliance was the only force against Taliban during half decade war started from 1994. Taliban were successful to start their armed struggle from country's southern areas basically from Kandahar, a Pashtun majority province. In their political structure they were majority from one ethnic group and were

thus successful to gain support from Pashtun areas in the south with rapidity. Soon they reached Kabul, the capital of Afghanistan and afterwards had the control of the country's about 70% territory. Only some northern provinces, including Badakhshan and Panjshir, with Tajik and Uzabek population, were under the control of the Afghanistan's Islamic State which makes about 30% of the whole territory. In such a proportion, in September 9, 2001, defense minister of Islamic State, Ahmad Shah Massoud, was assassinated by two Tunisian Arabs apparently journalists who came to meet him after months of wait. Islamic State of Afghanistan had lost its key defender and powerful guerilla fighter. In this scenario the 9/11 incident took place just after 3 days, where twin towers in New York were hit by Taliban and Al-Quida group. United States under the banner of war on terror launched a long lasting war against Taliban and intervened in Afghanistan. A new interim government was set up by the agreement in Bonn, Germany. The international community agreed to support the new government and provide Afghanistan with financial support to build the three decades war torn country.

This was the starting point for the international aid to rebuild Afghanistan's broken structure and make a stable and self-sufficient country which should overcome its expenses and stand alone by its own feet. Although the US's aid helped Afghanistan especially in building, strengthening military and security matters but largely has ignored other walks of life. It has badly affected health, education and infrastructure development.

A new constitution was drafted in the Bonn process in which it was due to hold presidential election on 2004 and National Assembly polls in the next coming year. During the 2006 conference in London, International Community agreed to start a new partnership with Afghanistan to pledge amount \$10.5 billion (Crisis Group Report on Afghanistan). This was for Afghanistan to reach its millennium development goals in the following key sectors of security,

governance, rule of law and human rights and economic & social development (Millennium Summit, 2000). The government of Afghanistan committed itself to recognize and implement this vision while international community committed itself to provide Afghanistan and and resources to support the war form country to realize the vision. But due to insecurity and corruption, these visions were only limited to ambitions. After two years, in Paris Conference, government of Afghanistan under leadership of Hamid Karzai presented a blueprint for development of Afghanistan, "Afghanistan National Development Strategy" 2008 – 2013 which required \$50 billion in the five years period. International Community affirmed of its support and pledged \$21 billion and United States committed to provide \$10.2 billion in two years (The Washington Post, 2008)

While trust on the Karzai-led government was in decline due to corruption, international community here as donors demanded an enhanced coordination role for United Nation Assistance Mission for Afghanistan which was to bring more accountability and effectiveness to aid However both conferences of London and Paris has stressed to channel more of their funding through in-budget, make state's legitimacy enhanced and to meet the public needs and efforts of nation-building. Yet finance ministry's estimates showed in 2010 that 80 percent of assistance provided in the name of Afghanistan by-passed government's budget and institutions.

After all these years Afghanistan is still one of the poorest countries in the world and faces economic hurdles. Instability and corruption have posed Afghanistan in a situation to cope with the mentioned issues and formation of an inclusive economy which paves way to development, self-sufficiency and create opportunities for foreign investment, development in trade and creating employment.

Afghanistan had already bad record in human development indicators and invasion of Afghanistan further worsen the situation due to insurgency and counter-insurgency operations. In July 2013 according to OCHA report, 590000 of citizens were displaced due to conflicts. Despite of insecurity, people did not lose hope and 5 million refugees have returned back to their land since 2002 which has increased the population by 20% according to UNHCR and still 5.3 million are refugees in Iran and Pakistan according to OCHA.

In this piece of work, we will discuss and examine the success stories and find mistakes in practices carried out by government and US as a major donor

1.1 Methodology:

This research is conducted using qualitative research method. Both primary and secondary sources are consulted. Library research is practiced to analyze and explore the facts and figures and historical background of aid to Afghanistan. Interviews are considered to get primary information from Afghanistan's former stakeholders i.e. Ministry of Finance for facts and figures and members of Senate of the National Assembly of Afghanistan. In addition, books, research articles, newspapers / magazines and websites about aid effectiveness thoroughly studied to examine the aid efforts in Afghanistan.

CHAPTER TWO

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Let's begin with defining fragile states. There is no agreed definition for the term and many international institutions give different definitions to the term. According to International Development Association, fragile states are characterized by weak institutions and vulnerability to conflict, have increasingly become an area of focus for the development community in recent years (IDA, 2007).

There is not a clear agreement upon usage of the correct term to categorize weak states and most of bilateral and multilateral donors and Development Assistance Committee use the term "fragile states". Nowadays however usage of term "fragile states and situations" is increasingly is used. The term has been criticized for not differentiating among various causes and issues of some states i.e. emerged in form of democracies and those emerged from conflicts. The term fragile states is sometimes used to indicate to states which are not weak and fragile with regards to their capacity but they are not responsive to demands of their respective citizens and international pressures to change their policies or bring reforms at least

The Paris Declaration refers to the effective management of aid at high levels through mechanisms which are agreed between the donors and the recipient government. The development partners are united around an approach extended by Organization for Economic Co-operation & Development (OECD). It recognizes characteristics of fragility as (i) prolonged crisis or impasse, (ii) post-conflict or political transition, (iii) gradual improvement and (iv) deteriorating governance (OEDC, 2005). These countries face severe development issues with regards to their capacity, political stability, governance and are often in on-going violence which put them in vulnerability to collapse

Interventions in the fragility situations are highly risky since effectiveness and development are undermined due to weak institutions and the possibility of violence poses vulnerability to the gains achieved by international aid. Working with fragile states is also posing risk to donors due to their fragile environments

Despite the risk mentioned, because of their operating environment, international community is committed to put attention are there are two vice versa possibilities in working with fragile states. On one hand, because of their weak institutions probability of success is very low but on the other hand, since they start development from very beginning, there is a high chance of being successful

Although the Declaration of Paris is not legally binding but presents shared understanding and acceptance between governments donors and recipients i.e. United States and Afghanistan to enhance aid effectiveness in Afghanistan

The fundamentals of principles are taken from resolutions of Monterrey Consensus (2002), Rome Declaration on Harmonization (2003), Marrakech Roundtable on Managing for

Results (2004), Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness (2005) and the work of OECD-DAC Working Party on Aid Effectiveness

There are many frameworks developed by the donors to provide them a structure to engage with the fragile states they are involved in One of the famous and mostly considered frameworks is "Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness". It was developed in March 2005 and it tends to provide terms of engagement between developing and developed or partner countries and donors. According to Paris Declaration, it has provided five principles for delivering and managing aid ownership, alignment, harmonization, managing for results and mutual accountability.

These principles are further needed to be explained

2.1 Ownership:

Partner countries exercise effective leadership over their development policies, and strategies to coordinate development actions

Promoting national ownership is a central element of the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness, and is defined as a country's ability to lead and direct its development policies and strategies. As the OECD put it, 'ownership is critical to achieving development results' (OECD, 2006)

With regards to this part in Paris declaration, Afghanistan's government as a partner country has not been able to exhibit effective leadership over development policies and strategies for coordination of development actions. This is largely due to nature of governance and its structure of bureaucracy. Lack of capacity in Afghanistan at the national level among government officials, ministries and civil servants has the greatest impact on the management of

and Corruption is the key to become a stakeholder Senior government staff lacks enough understanding of the situation. They believed Umted States and international community would be here to provide money if they request for it anytime. It was until United States administration under Barak Obama announced the troop's withdrawal from Afghanistan at the end of 2014. It was witnessed that government in Kabul was worned if April, 2014 elections were not concluded in one month after consecutive five months delay, government will not be able to pay civil servants their next month's salaries. There's no doubt and shock for this news, as government funding for its institutions is relayed totally on foreign aid.

However, the corruption in Afghanistan's government is not accepted by then president of Afghanistan to this proportion that foreigners and outside world media channels were claiming. He negates these allegations and calls them fraudulent to put pressure on Afghanistan's government for the purpose to keep and expand their hand on policies according to their will while he believed corruption was not to extent it was reported by external world. President Karzai in an interview with Tolonews put all allegations back on United States and called them fraudulent.

The leaders of recipient countries should be capable in exercising leading role for developing and implementation of national development strategies through consultative processes. They should translate their strategies into priorities which are result-oriented and should take leading role in coordination aid at all levels with their donors and encourage civil society and private sector to take part in it. On the other hand donors should be committed respect the country's leadership and encourage them through capacity building to exercise it.

2.2 Alignment:

Donors base their overall support on partner countries national development strategies, institutions and procedures

Second recommendation of Paris Declaration is with regards to donors and agencies providing aid to recipients of aid According to this principle the donors must base their full strength aid support according to partner countries' national development programs and procedures those countries want to work with Comparing this principle with aid flow from United States, it results that United States has not come up with it. They have ignored this principle to align large percentage of the aid national development strategies of Afghanistan. Since most of aid was spent in the name of Afghanistan as off-budget.

The OECD concluded that 'donors often channel funds directly to implementing partners or contractors, and do not always keep the relevant Afghan ministries informed about financial flows ' (OECD, 2006) Alignment means to use a country's own institutions and system to assure the effectiveness of aid on given purposes and to increase partner country's sustainability to develop, implement its policies. According to OEDC, systems of government include, but not limited to, national arrangements for public financial management, accounting, auditing, procurement, results frameworks and monitoring.

In the alignment principle there are some mutual obligations to be carried out together by donor and partner country. They should workout to create mutually accepted frameworks which will provide transparency, accountability and assessment of programs' performance of a system of country. Donor and partner country should integrate reviews and assessment frameworks with country-led strategies for development of capacity.

Partner countries on the basis of the reviews carried out together with donor should go for reforms which will ensure to be transparent, accountable and effective with regards to national systems, institutions and procedures for managing aid. Donors on the other hand must be committed to use the systems and procedures of country to possible extent and if not possible should create additional measures in such a way which will strengthen the systems and procedures of partner country. Donors must avoid creating any sort of structures which are for day to day management with regards to implementation of projects which are through aid provided. This may result in parallel structure with partner country's structure and system which will result in undermining and ignoring them rather than strengthening and developing them. This was actually practiced in Afghanistan. Most of aid was provided to projects in which government of Afghanistan was not aware of the expenditure and their priorities were not what government sought to focus. This principle emphasizes on avoiding any sort of conflicts with partner country's system to the extent possible.

However, Afghanistan didn't have national strategy until 2008 when it was finalized as Afghanistan National Development Strategy for Security, Governance, Economic Growth and Poverty Reduction But according to Ministry of Finance (MoF) figures, it was witnessed that of aid provided by International Community, only 30% of the announced aid was used through government budget and rest was spent by the donors

United States and Afghanistan together should have agreed upon priorities for research and development through formal consultation workshops and reassessment should have taken place at least once per year to determine what was really needed to focus upon. This could align with United States' aid for Afghanistan with better strategy and better outcomes. The total

expenditure of United States should have been with national development strategy of Afghanistan at least after it was completed in 2008

Furthermore, United States should have used Afghanistan's own institutions and systems in each of its programs. But in a country like Afghanistan where there was and still is scarcity of skill-labor, it was almost impossible. Therefore it was suggested to take in use "contracting out" as a tool for pushing institutions to gain progress. Contracting out is famous term to work with a fragile state when the internal human capital cannot carry out a program effectively and efficiently and indeed. United States and international community took it in to use. This however was not effective or efficient in case of Afghanistan and much costly. Estimates show most full time, expatriate consultants, working in private consulting companies. cost \$250000 – \$500000 a year (Waldman, 2008). Outsiders were invited to Afghanistan and were given contracts to help Afghanistan's government machinery to run but this did not helped a lot. Contracting foreigners cost Afghanistan most of the aid which was due to be given. A report by cited by Waldman in his assessment paper, "the government of Afghanistan claims that 40% of aid returned back to donor countries spending on salaries, profits for their corporate and the matter has risen cost of those projects. Between the years 2001 – 2008, the amount returned to donors was estimated to some \$6 billion" which is almost to say taking back what you have announced silently.

So the principle of alignment reaffirms the need of alignment with partner country's system and its procedures, its priorities and programs to ensure the effectiveness of aid to maximum extent

2.3 Harmonization:

Donors' actions are more harmonized transparent and collectively effective

The third principle for consideration of aid donor in Paris Declaration on aid effectiveness is harmonization. United States should have put aid efforts to work more closely with government of Afghanistan in harmonized way to produce meaningful, long lasting and far sighted results. What United States did through the process of providing aid is only "winning the hearts and minds" – to announce one thing and to do something else. The people of Afghanistan regard this matter as a double-standard which in fact is a double-standard.

The principle of harmonization according to Paris Declaration obligates donor to be committed to implement their action plan they have develop and where feasible, should implement the common arrangements for planning, funding, monitoring, reporting, evaluating on their activities and flows of aid. They must increase the use of models which are program based. On the other hand the partner country must show progress to establish structures for governance and build institutions to deliver effective public safety, security, governance and access to basic social services to respective citizens. The government of Afghanistan however has made its possible effort to establish structures while on the issue of who is to govern and how to govern has remained questionable mostly due to lack of professional human resource. Only building a structure or law is not needed, the courage to bring professional staff and working authority is essential to bring change. The partner country must engage in to dialogue with donor to develop planning tools with regards to national development strategies where they not enough or having a vacuum. They should also encourage wide participation of national actors to setup priorities for meaningful development.

Afghanistan after 14 years of foreign intervention and aid flow still is in a vulnerable condition to collapse. Be it in economic sector or security and the later is the sector which most

of aid was focus upon it, there is less to be hopeful. Today's Afghanistan is, more people armed with gun. Numbers show that nearly 400000 personnel are working in military and security related sector (The Diplomat, 2015) but question is has it really brought security to the country? This is something to think about. Now issue is that keeping such number and sustaining it without foreign aid is absolutely impossible for the weak government of Afghanistan which totally is dependent on foreign aid.

United States and government of Afghanistan had to be more aligned with regards to expenditure and where to spend the aid. But United States is more spending through other contractors rather than relying on government machinery and this has brought another issue of parallel institutions with government institutions. Afghanistan's biggest donor, USAid, allocates nearly half its funds to five big contractors. And due to security issues that subcontract it with local contractors and nothing really remains to spend on projects. Those contractors have to keep margin for their profits and for sure local companies should also take their part of benefits. The US government has awarded major contracts, some worth hundreds of millions of dollars, to KBR, the Louis Berger group, Chemonics International, Bearing Point, and Dyncorp International, according to a study by the US-based Centre for Public Integrity quoted in a report (The Guardian, 2008). Now some of these companies are not working transparent as mentioned about they sell the projects to local companies or they are having legal problems within United States.

According Paris Declaration in this principle, donors are committed to harmonize their activities and should avoid those activities which would result in undermining national institution building like bypassing national budget processes. Due to lack of good leadership in Afghanistan, we will for time-being agree, but this principle emphasizes on donors to harmonize

their activities even if in the absences of strong government leadership by establishing joint donor offices, joint strategies, and joint assessments

Largely due to lack of coordination and communication, the Afghan government does not know how one-third of all aid since 2001 – some \$5bn – has been spent (Waldman, 2008) and if we count it up to 2014 it will rise more than that figure

This principle also advises joint commitments for donors and partner countries. Donor and partner country should work together in to deepening common procedures for projects consultations, developing and implementing common approaches for national and sector levels. They must continue to work together to generate capacity in specialized technical and policy for analysis and enforcement of legislation.

2.4 Managing Results:

Managing resources and improving decision-making for results

The forth principle to follow the Paris Declaration up to success aiding fragile states is managing results. According to this principle, the donor country should report about performance of monitoring and assessment of aid program of recipient country's strategy. The donor and recipient should come to an agreement mutually in the process of developing the recipient's strategy to get better results after the assessments are carried out.

According to Paris Declaration for Aid Effectiveness, "Managing for results means to manage and implement aid in a way that it will focus on the favorable results and to use information for improvement of decision-making." The principle obligates partner countries too, in to strengthening linkages between multi-annual budget processes and national development

strategies. They should working more in to establishing result oriented reporting and frameworks for assessment which will monitor progress. Donor is obligated to work with partner country and to rely on monitoring frameworks and reporting provided by partner country. The donor should harmonize its reporting and monitoring requirement with partner country to help in maximizing the joint formats for reporting. Donor and partner country should jointly work for strengthening capabilities and demand of country for result based management. They should together upon the partnership commitments and implementing those commitments to reach their objectives and aid effectiveness.

The international assistance effort in Afghanistan is often not motivated purely by humanitarian concerns, but by a variety of international and domestic political and security considerations. International actors are distracted by fighting in parts of the country and the influence of regional powers. Consequently, the effective delivery of aid is often secondary to other aims. Security is needed to maximize the impact of aid, but currently the situation is reversed, aid is being used to support military and political objectives. Can aid be effective if assistance is not the primary aim?

United States should have hold this as its responsibility to first exhibit its own transparency of assessment and also should have maintained to monitor and evaluate the previous investments to check the effectiveness

Another challenge to "managing for results" is the lack of accurate information. Even basic statistics about Afghanistan, such as the size of the population, are lacking. Largely due to lack of donor coordination and communication, the Afghan government says it does not have information on how one-third of all assistance since 2001 was spent – some \$5 billion at the year

2008 A large proportion of assistance is not in aligning with national and provincial plans, and only half is disbursed in agreement with the Afghan government

2.5 Mutual accountability:

Donors and partners are accountable for development results

The fifth and last principle is mutual accountability in the Paris Declaration on aid effectiveness in fragile states. The donor should be committed to provide transparent, timely and comprehensive information about aid flow to the recipient country's authorities. When it comes to mutual accountability we see that both parties. United States as a major donor to Afghanistan and government of Afghanistan under two terms elected-President Hamid Karzai were not serious. Mr. President in his second last year of tenure brought up tremendous allegations against policies and double standards of government of United States and on the other hand, government of United States and its loudspeakers of International Media called government of Afghanistan as much corrupt as North Korea (Transparency International, 2013). Mutual accountability was undermined here due to these allegations from both sides.

The allegations against each other actually took rise due to neglecting by then-president of Afghanistan about signing the strategic security agreement between Washington and Kabul for next decade. According Afghanistan's official claims, United States was not serious and committed to bring peace to Afghanistan even if the strategic agreement was signed under presidency of Hamid Karzai.

To gain success, they both should be mutually accountable and transparent in using development resources. This will help to strengthening the public support for policies of partner

country Donor is committed to provide comprehensive and transparent, timely information about flow of the aid so partner country's authorities could present budget report to its citizens and legislature. Where partner country must be committed to have a participatory approach to involve a wide range of development partners while assessing progress and formulating strategies of national development. It should work for strengthening role of parliament for building budgets or national development programs.

Many donors in Afghanistan and indeed many contractors and NGOs do not want publicly disclose details about their spending. Without increased transparency and accountability it will be impossible for donors to fulfill their commitments to taxpayers to enhance efficiency and effectiveness.

Conclusion

United States' Aid and Paris Declaration of Aid Effectiveness in Fragile States

Pans Declaration provides foundation for the effectiveness of aid in fragile states. However there are many factors that limit effectiveness of aid in Afghanistan. The United States must prioritize the effectiveness of aid in Afghanistan rather than prioritizing political or military aims. United States has not aligned its aid providing efforts with these principles that framework has indicated and thus the results are heavily undermined. Afghanistan's government and its people are critique of United States and that is more on the worsening security conditions of the country. Then when it's judged that how this happen while United States is spending more than half of aid for security sector alone? This is sometimes strange and doubtful. Afghanistan must have been one of the most secure regions of the world when the expenditure is figured.

Paris Declaration focuses on development aid and does not apply to relief and stabilization and this should be acknowledged. So environment in Afghanistan is complex and there must be debates about aid effectiveness and on how to improve impacts of aid in Afghanistan.

United States should measure the impacts of aid and should not only depend upon the process but should concentrate on effectiveness of aid. And finally to ensure to get towards improvement, both United States and government of Afghanistan must improve information and knowledge provided to all. This is not only money that can bring goals, its better management and alignment and preplanning. United States must admit its mistakes in Afghanistan's case and should consult Afghanistan's government and real problems of the people and reset all its efforts with regards to aiding Afghanistan.

CHAPTER THREE

ADDRESSING US AID AND ITS PURPOSES

International Aid or Foreign Aid is the transfer of aid internationally in forms of services, goods and capital from one country or international organizations known as "donors" to another country known as "recipient" to support the recipient countries tackle their long and short term issues. The aid can take form of military, emergency humanitarian and economic

United State has worked with Afghanistan historically through ages. During the cold war however. United States had helped Mujahedeen with anti-soviet efforts. After the defeat of Taliban in 2001, the effort of state building with Afghanistan's new government took another phase and shape. United States at first unilaterally started efforts to build a new government in the country and after some while the allies of United States came together to help the country stand on feet and become a prosperous nation in the family of nations. United States has worked with Afghanistan in different prospects and sectors which would be discussed in this chapter.

3.1 Agriculture Sector:

United States Agency for International Development has worked with Afghanistan and Ministry of Agriculture of Afghanistan with their international partners to help in increasing the sale of lawful agriculture and non-agricultural items to more than \$472 million. It has created more than 555000 job opportunities and has brought more than 1 acre land to better management for the natural resources.

For food security Agriculture is considered essential and key factor in economic development in Afghanistan. More than 75% of Afghanistan are dependent on agricultural resources. This sector forms 25% of GDP of Afghanistan. Before decades of war, agricultural products such as almond, pomegranate, peanut, plum and apricot were world famous for their quality. Several decades of war and no focus upon this sector caused agricultural land to ruin, millions of people to migrate and infrastructure to vanish.

United State's support for agriculture of Afghanistan has been focus on creating employments, increasing the incomes, bringing production capability, developing food security and strengthening government's capacity in supporting farmers and bringing food to people

3 1 1 Reestablishing the agricultural Capability of Afghanistan

After many decades of war and negligence, agriculture sector of Afghanistan has returned to its previous state. United State's aid in coordination with ministry of Agriculture, from 2002 till now has provided seeds, chemical fertilizers, agricultural equipments and technology for 1 million farmers to enable them in the agricultural activities. These efforts have enabled farmers and "Agricultural Products' Business" to earn \$354 million in through sales and services till 2014.

According to United States' aiding agency officials' claims, the organization has trained more than 1.8 million farmers and has provided debts to more than 24600 families for developmental affairs of their lands. United States of America and its international partners have worked together to increase legal agriculture and non-agriculture products' trade income more than \$472 million (USAID, 2014 Annual Report). More than 277000 employments have been added through alternative and sustained ways. In the agriculture sector, it has increased the number and has given strength to commercial debts. It has worked with farmers and local farmer to link them to international and regional markets. United States' agency for international development has provided support to bring food security to vulnerable population of Afghanistan in remote areas (USAID, 2014 Annual Report).

3.2 Democracy and Good Governance:

United States works together with the stakeholders in Afghanistan to develop transparency and rule of law, capacity development and enabling the people of Afghanistan In year 2014, revenue of total 22 municipalities increased 57% USAID agency created and supported national radio network with has 66 operating stations and estimated 22 million listener nationwide

Afghanistan has developed in its political and administrative system Political participation, especially from womenfolk is increasing 2014 elections marked the first ever democratic transition of power in the country by inauguration president Ghani. However this won't be so much true to say the first ever democratic transition, since the first political transition was experienced when Professor Burhanuddin Rabani, then-president of Afghanistan,

after tackling down the ruthless regime of Taliban, transferred his power to transitional government of then-president Hamid Karzai Anyhow, this achievement is result of work and assistance of international community with Afghanistan Since 2004 Afghanistan arranged its Constitution and created numerous ministries to provide services to the people and has supported the development of civil society and independent active media. According to a 2014 survey 57% of people regard National Unity government comparatively effective.

Since 2004, United States has enabled people through supporting democratic process and participation of people, increased accountability and governance, encouraged national reconciliation and has met the necessities of people of Afghanistan Equal development and political leadership of women has been the primary aims of US aid in Afghanistan. The aid provided by United States has supported key institutions of election, parliamentary, judicial and executive with regards to their capacity building and leadership to people

3 2 1 Governance

United States' aid has been focused on establishing effective relationship between citizens and government, enforcement of law and effectiveness of government and development of approach to governmental agencies in remote areas of Afghanistan Since 2004 United States agency for international development has created more than 1140 boreholes of drinking water (USAID, 2014 Annual Report) and supported schools and clinics. These activities have enabled people to participate in decision making and provision of services.

United States as a donor by supporting government to reach to needs of people and increase in the rule of law in unstable areas and through developing the local leadership has

become source of development of governmental systems. United States supports establishing strong relationship between central and local authorities.

The agency for international development has also supported Afghanistan's Parliament and government servants in the capital and provinces and districts through technical trainings. This agency has supported financially prosecution of women parliamentarians by providing them trainings and in May, 2014 women representatives announced first ever Women Parliamentary. Group

322 Rule of Law

United States Agency for International Development with cooperation of Afghanistan government is engaged to build working capacity of judges and court authorities. The agency has trained more than 176 judges and 176 administrative staff of courts in managerial, leadership and administration of courts. This agency has also worked directly with religious elders to bring together customary and official judicial systems, increase the availability of justice and by resolving issues, helped and supported security

323 Support for electoral processes

The 2014 elections with highest levels of participation, witnessed record voters with high level of women participation in whole history of Afghanistan. In this election 23% of votes were of women (USAID Report, 2014). Even though having security threats, citizens went to electoral stations to vote for presidential and provincial assemblies with whole courage. Since 2004 the

agency has supported financially electoral institutions including Independent Election Commission, Independent Election Complaints Commission and Media Commissions to execute transparent and nationwide elections. In addition to it, this agency has supported civil trainings and special programs for voters and reformation of electoral system through political parties and civil society partners.

3 2 4 Civil Society and Media

Active media is essential factor in a sound democracy. According to a 2014 Asian survey about people of Afghanistan, people have shown strong support and trust about Media and Press Civil Organizations in Afghanistan have also arisen as effective stakeholders and active bodies. Civil Society Organizations in 2014 elections have introduced double representatives as comparing with 2009 elections, who were independently monitoring whole election process.

3.3 Economic Sector:

According to United States' aid agency, the aid provided by United States has made vital economic development in Afghanistan 250 chambers of commerce have been inaugurated in cities like Herat, Jalalabad, Kandahar, Kundoz and Mazar-e-Sharif among which 52 of them are under Women ownership. It has helped to earn more than \$52 million dollars through Sange-Marmar. Aid has provided debt support to more than 2225 Afghan enterprises which amount to more than \$35 million dollars (USAID, 2014 Annual Report).

331 Economic Development

Three decades of war caused to ruin the economy of Afghanistan and more than 5.2 million people were displaced from their homes. Afghanistan's GDP has rise to more than \$5.2 million dollars (USAID Report, 2014). United States in its aid efforts is committed to help create new employment opportunities, increase in to reaching the markets, encouraging business and regional integration and encourage legal modification which will cause more national and international investment.

3 3 2 Development and growth of Private Sector

United States supports very small, small and mid level employments, and connecting to new markets and learning new skills. The aid is actively working to increase quality technical and business trainings, serving employment services, ease in to reaching the debts and developmental opportunities, it will work to raise the employment and salaries of 22225 Afghans among them 52% are women (USAID Report, 2014)

Since 2005 United State has strengthen private sector of Afghanistan through management trainings, reaching out to market information and gratuitous support to bring private and public sector near each other. United States' aid has worked with government of Afghanistan to set up 88 instances of cooperation and coordination between private and public sector that in result more than \$ 230 dollars are spent on construction, processing food items, producing consuming material, insurance, extracting natural resources, handicraft, media and communication and information technology from private sector.

3.3.3 Economics and Business Management

United States together with his international partners have worked with government of Afghanistan in areas of implementation of laws and policies to support business, increasing in export, encouraging transparency and reducing current hurdles in business. USAID has helped government of Afghanistan in negotiations with Pakistan about business agreement and supports its implementation, in addition United States supports Afghanistan to get membership of world trade organization. Since the beginning of technical support by USAID in modification of customs in 2005, the average time crossing the goods from boundaries of Afghanistan, it has reduced from many days to many hours. This organization has ease the ways to export fruits and nuts to India, Pakistan, UAE, Britain and other countries worth \$ 22 million dollars by improving the process of agricultural and marketing. Natural resources can accelerate the economic development of Afghanistan and is one of important income source for government. USAID supports development of technical, monitoring and governance of Ministry of Mines and Petroleum, private sector and public partners so that they are able to develop mine sector with responsibility.

3.4 Education Sector:

Three decades of war had devastating effects on education in Afghanistan. In 2002, almost 100000 children were admitted to school while girls and women were totally deprived from education. Since then government of Afghanistan and USAID and other donors have worked together to rebuild the educational sector. Ministry of Education together with support of

USAID has established more than 100000 schools and employed 10000000 teachers and has risen the admission percentage 60% (USAID Report, 2014)

Currently more than 10 million pupils are admitted to schools of which 2.0 million are girls. Better educational opportunities for development of qualified boys and girls for Afghanistan with youngest population in the world is one of the pivotal priorities.

USAID's educational strategy is focused on settlement of urgent necessities and strengthens processes and institutions of Afghanistan United States' and has support education sector of Afghanistan In year 2000, one million children were admitted to schools. Since 2000 literacy rate among the Afghan youth has risen 6% reaching (38%) as whole

3 4 1 Improvement in Primary Education

United States' aid has supported to improve the basic education by helping to train more than 74000 instructors of them 22000 were women. It has also distributed textbooks to school reaching to 114 billion textbooks. From year 2006 to 2011 it has enabled approximately 105000 students in remote villages to be able to reach schools from far and sometimes dangerous areas. There are efforts going on to find better ways to transform community based education to more formal ways.

United States' aid has been working with Ministry of Education (MoE) to build a sustainable educational system. Its advisors have been helping MoE to strengthen the financial and human resources management, monitoring and evaluation and procurement systems.

3 4 2 Improvement in Higher Education

Enrollments in Public Universities have risen from 7800 in 2001 to 123000 in 2013 and the demand to continue for higher education is growing. The University Support and Workforce Development Program (USWDP) are helping currently the higher education professional to effectively manage growth of tertiary education and at same time to improve academic quality USWDP is helping to improve the capacity of management in Ministry of Higher Education and ten universities to create new opportunities for students to pursue then higher education

3.5 Gender Sector:

The women in Afghanistan face enormous challenges. Afghanistan was ranked 169th by United Nations Inequality Index from 187 countries as women in Afghanistan struggle for equality in economic opportunities, political empowerment and healthcare. United States Agency for International Development has support these struggles and critical progress has been achieved.

In 2001, almost no girl attended formal education and school. Women were neglected from every kind of participation in country. As of today millions of girls and women are busy in formal education and thousands of women attend universities. Due to access to basic and parental healthcare, mortality rates have declined largely and this is especially in the rural areas. United States. Aid effort has played its role so far in the areas of health, education, women's right, political participation and economic development.

351 Entrepreneurship

United State's provides training and placements services for women and easy access to financial and credit products. Since 2011, for 575 businesswomen, from all 34 provinces, has facilitated amount of \$1.86 million loans to private sector and conducted 22 business entrepreneurships triaging workshops for 1200 businesswomen. More than 3500 women have received their mid-career and professional employees and job-seeker trainings since 2012. More than 2000 women have got new jobs and or got promotions and increased salary incentives.

352 Education and Heath

In Afghanistan, today girls and women have access to healthcare and education services. They are contributing to health sector and services to fellow women folk. Estimated in 2014, more than 3 million pupil girls are studying in school (USAID, 2014 Annual Report). US aid supports female enrollment in higher education.

353 Leadership

Female participation in economy, helping them to be businesses holders and having equipped with managerial skills, United States has taken a major initiative for strengthening afghan women. United States has supported women's right groups and encouraged the increasing number of women participation in decision-taking positions in the government.

United States' aid and its partners have provided funds to conduct trainings and debates about women's right to bring the awareness to public about this issue. It has sponsored roundtables to

promote dialogues about women's right. United States' aid has provided trainings to female judges to manage courts, manage cases and to provide required process to their fellow citizens. Additionally, United States' aid has supported training for 2,135 women media professionals, 720 women executives, and 166 national legislators across the country (USAID Report, 2014). The work of United States' aid has helped to establish laws relating to women, such as Elimination of Violence against Women Law United States' aid has encouraged women participation in public policy and advocate for reform, support equal voter registration, it also assists women candidates and gender equality in political parties.

3.6 Health Sector:

Lowest life expectancy in Afghanistan was recorded in the world in 2002. Today a significant progress is made in the health sector with collaboration of United States. 9 percent of whole Afghan population was living in one-hour distance from health facility, and today the percentage has risen to 57 percent. Infant mortality has decreased by 53 percent and child mortality by 62 percent (USAID Report, 2014). According to World Health Organization (WHO) in 2013, Afghanistan has made a good progress since 2011 in combating polio, which cases were reaching to 80 in 2011 and has dropped to 14 cases in 2013. However much work remains to be done according to USAID and the organization is committed to support health sector of Afghanistan.

361 Immediate Healthcare Needs

In 13 provinces of Afghanistan, US aid is funding 640 health facilities with medicines and essential support. This work of US aid with its international partners will spread to whole over Afghanistan Approximately. I million patients, 76% of them women and children are treated in these health facilities funded by US aid (USAID Report, 2014). The aid is funding capacity building workshops for physicians and nurses and midwives. Afghanistan has nearly 25000 community health workers and the aid has trained nearly half of them (USAID Report, 2014).

To improve maternal and child's health, access to professional birth attendants is important. With the help of US aid, 2050 midwives are graduated and their number has increased since time of Taliban from 467 to 4000 in nowadays (USAID Report, 2014). Consequently, in rural areas of Afghanistan, access to parental care has risen from 16% since 2003 to 60% in 2011.

3 6 2 Building capacity in the health system

United States and agency has supported capacity boiling programs to enhance the financial, procurement and the system for management of Ministry of Public Health United State's and agency is committed to work with MoP to improve it capacity for making plans and managing its activities, the allocation of its resources, increasing HR capacity, strengthening information about health and logistic system. It has also provided assistance to monitoring an evaluation of programs. US and agency has made standards of being a responsible, accountable and transparent institution as requirement to be eligible for receiving funding from government of United States for implementation of particular programs.

363 Building access to healthcare by private sector

United State's aid has helped to make health products more affordable to rural and low income population through expending private sector distribution of selected, high quality birth control pills, salts for oral rehydration and solutions for safe water. United State's aid with regards to spreading the public health messages, like space between birth and preventative measures for diarrhea, has supported radio and TV, community meetings and billboards for the purpose

364 Humanitarian Assistance

Prolonged conflict, weak infrastructure, rigid terrain, severe and bad weather climate and high level of insecurity have badly affected Afghanistan in past 3 decades. There are other factors which make the condition worse for the humanitarian landscape, majority of population lives in rural areas which are hard to reach. More than 700000 of population are internally displaced which are due to conflicts. More than 200000 people are in exposure to natural disasters every year. Over 2.2 million of population is estimated to be faced with insecure food (USAID Report, 2014).

In such a condition mentioned above, United State's aid agency in Afghanistan takes these steps as required. I) supporting targeted responses to meet humanitarian and food assistance needs of conflict and disaster-affected populations. 2) building resilience by supporting community-based mechanisms that incorporate disaster risk reduction and emergency

preparedness, and 3) supporting coherent and coordinated national disaster preparedness and humanitarian response systems (USAID Report, 2014)

365 Preparedness and Responds to Natural Disaster

Together with Afghanistan's National Disaster Management Authority or ANDMA, United State's aid works in order to monitoring, assessing and responding to disasters in Afghanistan. They are working to provide non-food emergency relief for the distribution on immediate form. They are also working to manage hazard mapping, planning and capacity building measures for the people exposed to disaster and to control over smaller scale of floods. In the first half of 2014, United States' aid assisted approximately 85,500 disaster-affected. Afghans by providing shelter kits, blankets, and other emergency relief commodities. In addition, support is given to NGOs to provide shelter and water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) assistance, including improved sanitation facilities, access to clean drinking water, and hygiene awareness training, to families affected by natural disasters (USAID Report, 2014).

366 Assistance of Emergency food and food security

United State is adding through providing food assistance to fight the hunger and strengthen food security to population mostly vulnerable. In FY 2014, the agency provided 42,270 metric tons (MT) of in-kind food assistance to the World Food Program's emergency food and nutrition assistance efforts, which reach nearly 2.4 million people.

3 6 7 Nutrition and Health

In FY 2014, United States' aid provided 830 MT of ready-to-use foods designed to treat severe acute malnutrition (SAM) to the U.N. Children's Fund (UNICEF) and treated approximately 60,000 children with SAM (USAID Report, 2014). United States is supporting WHO in providing critical healthcare services to make them develop and apply heavy casualty management plans. Support is also provided to UNICEF to increase access to WASH services in all 34 Afghan provinces, specifically targeting children, as poor hygiene, lack of vanitation, and inadequate access to safe drinking water directly contribute to infant mortality and morbidity, as well as under-nutrition (USAID Report, 2014).

3.7 Infrastructure:

Over the last decade United States has heavily invested in building Afghanistan's infrastructure and now is focusing to improve Afghanistan's government and capability of private sector for operating and maintaining this investment. Still many far areas in Afghanistan are in lack of infrastructure and households do not have water for cleaning, cooking and drinking which poses enormous danger to public health. Thirteen years ago, most of villages in rural areas had absences of electricity, clean water and roads to make it easy to reach health clinics, schools and services. Undeveloped roads were posing a great hurdle for movement of goods to international and domestic markets and there were no police and army presence, no government services due to being in isolation.

United State is helping Afghanistan's government in supplying electricity, expand the access to drinking water, design and build and maintain roads and build schools, hospitals and

clinics. United States is committed in to helping strengthen basic infrastructure, encourage investment from international community and growth in economy, creating jobs. However security threats, rigid geography and lack of professionally trained technicians are some of challenges.

371 Energy

Thirteen years from now, 6% of Afghanistan had access to power while this percentage has risen to 28% today (USAID Report, 2014). In southern Afghanistan, together with US military, United States' aid developed electricity generation network. In Kandahar and Helmand provinces, it has distributed their first ever access to electricity to 80000 households. With support of United States' aid, Afghanistan's electricity managing authority has been able to distribute electricity and collect revenue. Power delivery has risen 18% (USAID Report, 2014).

372 Roads

United States has invested in this sector amounting to \$2 billion to rehabilitate and construct more than 2000 kilometers of national roads. This project included the Ring Road which is connecting five major cities of Afghanistan. Kabul, Mazar-e-Sharif, Herat, Kandahar and Jalalabad. Approximately more than 80% of populations live within 50 kilometers distance from Ring Road. United States' and is supporting Ministry of Public Affairs to establish an independent Afghanistan Road Authority which will improve the efficiency and accountability through implementation of road-users fee to finance road relation operations and maintenance.

USAID as an agency operating in Afghanistan is committed to safeguard previous investments in this sector and supporting the government and private sector to develop the capability to generate revenue to expand and maintain Afghanistan's road network

373 Sanitation and Water

Only 39 9% in rural and 70 9% in urban areas, households have access to drinkable water (USAID Report, 2014). More than 3000 wells in rural areas and more than 615000 populations are given access to pure and drinkable water. Approximately 33000 latrines are constructed to prevent disease spread (USAID Report, 2014). United State through its aid is also supporting trainings for officials related to water management network and for their capacity building for sanitation services. The efforts are vastly promoting revenue collection and sustainability for these projects which are also cost recovery to some extent.

374 Buildings

United States' aid has supported through funding to design and build hundreds in number of hospitals, clinics and teacher training centers, schools, universities and university residences and buildings for government offices throughout Afghanistan All United States' aid funded buildings are built since their start in 2007 to meet seismic standards of International Building code (USAID Report, 2014). The top priority has been for buildings for areas where there were high demands for education. Through United States' aid funds, two schools for more than 12000 students are built in Kabul City and four teacher training centers in provinces like Faryab,

Parwan, Nangarhar and Wardak Six more buildings are built in Herat, Balkh, Jauzjan, Faryab and Bamyan provinces. These aids are also building to complete two hospitals in Paktia Province. 100-bed in Gardez, capital city of Paktia and 20-bed in Khayrkot hospital.

Conclusion

United States is one of major donors to Afghanistan and plays key role in developmental efforts in international aid. It is important to address the aid provided to Afghanistan due to its role and volume since United States is number one in the list of donors. When 9/11 happened only one month took time to decide about fate of Afghanistan and the Taliban. United States attacked Taliban and poured huge amount of money to aid the war torn country.

At the beginning it was only United States but soon its allies and international community joined the efforts. Many conferences and international conferences were held to help Afghanistan to overcome its basic and essential needs. The very first conference was held in December 2001 between many political factions to come to an agreement in Bonn. Germany where Hamid Karzai who was not very known in the Politics of Afghanistan was selected as leader for first six months tenure. This was when Burhanuddin Rabbani, the President of Afghanistan handed over authority to Hamid Karzai which was first ever political transition in the history of Afghanistan. The country has never experienced such a normal and fair power transition from one head of state to another head of state. Robert Gates, then-defense minister of United States in his speech in January 2009 to members of congress said that Afghanistan is the biggest challenges for United States and it is indeed. What they have been doing in Afghanistan starting from 2002 until 2014 has to be studied. In 2010 another one-day conference was held on

the name of Afghanistan and Afghanistan committed to take security responsibility for most of the insecure regions in the country. On the other hand international community committed itself to pour hundreds of millions of dollars as aid to Afghanistan for security and stability. In July 2010 International Conference of Kabul was held in Afghanistan where more than seventy countries were participating including secretary general of United Nations. This was emerged to focus on the security and economy of the country. In November 2010, another conference was held upon security transition to Afghanistan's National Forces between NATO members in Lisbon. They agreed to carry out the security transition to Afghanistan till end of 2014. In December 2011 second Bonn Conference was held where Taliban was also invited. They rejected to attend the conference and so did Pakistan Pakistan did not attend the conference to protest the killing of its 24 army personnel in border region with Afghanistan by NATO strikes. In July 2012 Tokyo Conference was held with participation of donor countries. The donor countries committed to aid amounting to \$16 billion till end of 2016 as humanitarian assistance. They committed to support Afghanistan through aid only in case Afghanistan's government takes firm steps in fighting corruption.

CHAPTER FOUR

CHALLENGES AFFECTING US AID

According to US Congress figures, aid provided to Afghanistan has become the most costly effort United States has ever committed to a single country in its history. Yet according to World Bank estimates in year 2013, Afghanistan will need more than \$7 billion in next decade to be able in to sustaining and funding security forces, keep reconstruction gains and fill the gap between revenues of government and operations and maintenance expenses

Reconstruction aid a term which has cost United States to spend approximately more than \$110 billion, figures in March 31, 2015 indicate. These enormous funds are used to build National Army of Afghanistan, for good governance, conducting development assistance and engaging in counter narcotics and anti-corruption in which Afghanistan is believed to be on top of the list. But when investigations are put on, reconstruction aid has been injurious and not only useless to the people of Afghanistan. Most of the aid has been spent only on security related areas.

It's witnessed that almost 70% of all aid has been put to security and rest of 30% was allocated to reconstruction and thus about 400000 men and women are part of security personnel. Due to lack of job opportunities, more people are encouraged naturally to work in armed forces. At the same time, in some rural areas people are where there are sympathies for insurgents, there is risk of being pushed in to those groups to fight against government.

The stance of government of Afghanistan is somewhat same as critics of aid illustrate the fact. Official stance of government is as "there is a gap between what the government of Afghanistan asked United States and what they have chosen to invest in " It is matter of fact that government of Afghanistan would thank international community and United States particularly for taking leading role but money has been wasted instead of being useful for the people

When we check the security conditions of Afghanistan, Taliban are still not defeated. They are posing great danger to Afghanistan's government while in 2014 they were stronger in the northern areas of Afghanistan. They challenged government and rule of law in Faryab province, and outset government's control from Kundoz province for fifteen days and we should not forget security sector has spent 70% of aid. According to reports from United States Intelligence Community, Taliban are still capable of challenging US and international goals in Afghanistan. Is it a result of United States' commitment to bring peace to Afghanistan or we have heard it wrong, as points ex-president Hamid Karzai in an inclusive interview. He doubts all the efforts of United States and calls it a clear double-standard.

According to a report by Afghanistan Analyst Organization in 2013, the intensity of war has not been decreasing since 2002 but its increasing. There is another \$18 billion appropriation for Afghanistan reconstruction from United States for next decade and there are doubts whether

it's wise decision to pump more money to Kabul without having a good planning coordination, joint efforts for choosing priorities and using national development strategy of Afghanistan (The Washington Post, 2014)

Poverty reduction funds are part of what is being spent on military objectives. According to figures provided by the Washington Post, US military spends \$100 million a day while expenditure for all donors since 2001 on average basis is just \$7 million a day. The report indicates that huge amount of funds are flowing to the areas where there is conflict and aid instead to be used for poverty reduction is used for military and political goals. As there is link between poverty and conflict international community and United States should concentrate on poverty reduction. As Waldman states, "this is a short-sighted policy," while there should be strong support for south's development, other provinces must not be neglected since insecurity could spread there too." The volume of aid, specifically for rural areas should be increased and donors should cooperate and provide more aid through government of Afghanistan.

Sustainability of millions of dollar projects is posed to challenges by Taliban who are waiting to exploit the vulnerabilities of Afghanistan's government. Without a standard financial structure to take huge scale of aid, it was a mistake to pour billions of dollars in to a war-torn country.

Prior to 2010, aid provided by United States was mostly through contracts, cooperative agreements and grants which were implemented outside the government budget or to say off-budget that was far more beyond the reach of Afghanistan's government. However after 2010, other donors and United States have agreed to increase more assistance and support through on-budget principle and help Afghanistan's institutions in their capacity for managing funds and

providing services. In the mean time while international donor community has brought this condition upon government of Afghanistan to fight against corruption and demonstrate the capacity in managing aid funds in a transparent way to be able to receive more aid.

While what real interest of United States in Afghanistan is, ex-president Hamid Karzai accused United States that it never wanted Afghanistan to be in peace. He believed that Washington wants war in Afghanistan because of its own interest and war in Afghanistan is to benefit foreigners, and it's based on the aims of foreigners, and if United States wanted peace in Afghanistan, it could come already

The special investigator general for Afghanistan reconstruction (SIGAR) says the government of United States is partly responsible and should be blamed for funds which are misused According to SIGAR the causes are not just problems related to Afghanistan, because they are operating the way United States wants them to do SIGAR believes that the Pentagon and USAID suffer from poor planning, accountability, oversight and corruption SIGAR reported that the cost for building a natural gas station in north Afghanistan has reached to \$43 million which is currently not operating because there is no demand for it and yet no one is responsible for it

4.1 Ongoing Challenges in Afghanistan

After 14 years of intervention in Afghanistan, there are still many long term challenges face by Afghanistan. These challenges must be solved to overcome the obstacles in way of effectiveness of aid.

411 Inadequate Planning

According to Special Inspector General for Afghanistan Reconstruction (SIGAR) there has been lack of inadequate coordination and planning which has resulted in increased expenses, waste, unsustainable projects, delays in them and also not using the facilities which were intended to be used. Some of the programs and projects are failed to reach their objectives, like supporting efforts in counternsurgency, improvement in governance and economic development. Special importance is at this time for planning as United States has withdrawn most of its armed forces and transition has taken place. Now what to do next will determine the future of the country.

4.1.2 Poor Quality Assurance

There have been poor quality assurance especially with regards to infrastructure projects and it continues to be a big issue. According to SIGAR, soil issues, inappropriate site grading and incorrect usage of facilities is one of issues related to quality assurance.

ł

413 Poor Security

Another major challenge with affects every sphere of reconstruction effort is poor security taken from implementing projects to monitoring and oversight

There are reasons behind it however and the first to mention is due to dangerous environment, NGOs and contractors have to rely more on their private security services. According to Afghanistan's government, they were required to contract with Afghanistan

Police Protection Force (APPF) instead of contracting with private companies for security purposes. According to SIGAR report in 2012, projects of US aid, it has found that contracting APPF would result in increased cost due to APPF fee structure.

Secondly, when United States and International forces withdrew, it resulted in difficulty for implementing and monitoring projects due to the fact mentioned above. This has brought a challenge for implementers and inspectors both to visit and inspect those projects. The security forces of United States have a policy to only provide security services in those areas which are near to roads at one hour distance of near one hour travel to a medical facility, which causes a hurdle for inspection

414 Questionable Sustainability

States has build infrastructures and launched programs that government in Afghanistan has neither technical ability nor financial ability to operate and maintain According to SIGAR, United States has poured tens of billions of dollars for everything like from electricity networks to road and to schools, security facilities and clinics. Government of Afghanistan is not capable to have enough revenue, human capital and institutional capability to maintain and operate much of this infrastructure.

However government of Afghanistan in past 13 years is not well satisfied with what west did in form of financial support. Most of critics are focused on off-budget spending where government was not well aware of the expenses in the name of Afghanistan and in some cases government of Afghanistan was not even asked whether a

huge and costly project is needed or not? Or at least what are priorities for the government of Afghanistan As president Karzai has mentioned that after taking office, government of Afghanistan presented basic two proposals for rebuilding our infrastructure. These proposals were about reconstruction of roads, provision of electricity and building dams for national electricity to provide nationwide "About the reconstruction of road they were interested" as Mr. Karzai says "Because actually they needed roads for their own needs' so they started reconstruction of roads to link provinces in better way. While in the sector of electrical energy they never assisted us to be self-reliant. United States has not taken any sort of firm step to work with government of Afghanistan. At first they responded with "Yes" but then they rejected and stepped back. They told us to approach World Bank and Asian Development Bank while they were also not interested. As Mr. Karzai puts it out, "they (WB & ADB) were also under their (US) hands." According to him, United States was not and is not true about its war and engagement in Afghanistan.

4 1 5 Pervasive Corruption

Entire efforts for construction in Afghanistan are threatened by corruption. It takes away funds from important programs, questions rule of law and decreases public support for the government of Afghanistan. Audits have shown that there have been shortcomings with regards to capacity of government of Afghanistan and there is lack of political will to fight corruption and it was recommended by SIGAR for United States to introduce an integrated anti-corruption strategy but US embassy in Kabul developed a

draft of it while it was left not adopted SIGAR is now working on the draft to evaluate it and implement this draft

Regarding the matter of corruption which international community and particularly United States believed in Afghanistan, it is debatable to most extent. In an inclusive interview with Tolonews, the ex-president of Afghanistan, Mr. Hamid Karzai negates this notion. According to his thoughts, he believes these phenomenons is normal in all countries and especially in post conflict countries like Afghanistan but he strictly responses upon questioning government under his leadership. He says there was corruption in Afghanistan and he does not reject it, but it was not to the extent International Media were quoting. Interestingly, he says all these negative propaganda was to put pressure on him to align his support for all what United States wanted to do in Afghanistan. He says major corruption instances are caused by foreigners themselves.

He further continues by expressing that, "we started from zero, there was not any institution in Afghanistan, and there were not educated staff in country's machinery. We brought advancement to Afghanistan, we handed over organizations to new government, we brought national assembly, freedom of speech, civil services, and we established foundations of national army for Afghanistan."

There is no doubt that state-building is a major task, it's not one day or night job to do. It's neither by chairs, tables and computers but it needs to educate and have talented individuals. Mr. Karzai states that if there were such big corruption that Afghanistan was number one in the world, then how these changes took place? He further defends his government and says, "In 2001 when new government took office,

Afghanistan's income per capita was only \$150 and while he was leaving office for National Unity government, it was raised to \$700. Afghanistan's foreign currency reserve was less than \$180 million including gold reserves and today it has reached to \$7.5 thousand million which is more than some neighboring countries (Tolonews, 2015).

416 Concerns about Direct Assistance

There is a hot discussion in Afghanistan's media and panels about direct assistance. Everyone questions United States and other donors for the matter. Direct Assistance is defined as the aid which is provided through national budget of a recipient state. In the International Conference in London in January 2010. United States and other donors supported this request of Afghanistan about increasing the development aid's proportion to 50% over two years. This support through on-budget aid was made conditional for Afghanistan. Afghanistan's government was ought to strengthen its financial management system, fighting corruption, improving execution of budget and to develop the capacity of government. After six months in Kabul Conference on Afghanistan, United States and International donor community reaffirmed their commitment to channel 50% on-budget support for government of Afghanistan in case government in Kabul has achieved the goal and necessary reforms.

Due to lack of capacity of government in Kabul and accountability for funds of donors, increasingly corruption and the requirement of adequate oversight for long-term, donors believed direct assistance to government of Afghanistan would threaten the objectives of reconstruction

4.17 Lack of Afghanistan's Capacity

Afghanistan's economy the assistance in sense of "off-budget" For example World Bank has called upon international donors for increasing the on-budget flow of and to manage operations and maintenance with systems of government which will help in aid effectiveness. However same WB has warned that government of Afghanistan would need to overcome serious capacity hurdles for being able to receive and use aid on budget effectively.

The execution of budget still remains a problem for government of Afghanistan In December 2012, House of Representatives of Afghanistan took decision to impeach eleven ministers for their failure to spend at least 50% of their prior fiscal year budgets (Tolonews, 2012) According to WB, over next years, there would be a push needed both by government and donors to improve capacity of government to spend the required budget

4 1 8 Imbalance between executive legislative and judicial branches

We discussed much about mismanagement and corruption in United States but that is one side of coin. We cannot forget about what government of Afghanistan in two terms of President Hamid Karzai has done. One of major problems in post-conflict states is commonly issue related to rule of law and its enforcement. In Afghanistan it is more than that Afghanistan has long-lasting conflict due to movements of insurgency. The institutions of Afghanistan are still weak. After the fraudulent elections of 2009 and

2010, Hamid Karzai, his government and parliament of Afghanistan had arrears in their legitimacy. The balance of power between legislative, executive and judicial branches did not work well. The executive branch manipulated and dominated two other branches and Parliament was fragmented. The judiciary was most corrupt among the state institutions (Afghanistan Analyst Organization, 2013)

Effectiveness thus was decreasing from center to provinces and district levels.

The constitution was not followed while it was repeatedly breached by executive.

419 Corruption

However the government of Afghanistan is committed to tackle the deeply rooted corruption but to some extent it has remained not very serious to take actions to prosecute officials who are in high ranking or well connected. According to Independent Joint Anti-Corruption Monitoring and Evaluation Committee (MEC) some ministries like. Ministry of Finance and Ministry of Mines and Petroleum (MoM) has made progress to recommendations of Committee to fight corruption but justice sector has not yet met with the required recommendations. So due to wide range of corruption, the direct assistance would have risks which will create harm and would only benefit those who are well-connected.

According to Integrity Watch Afghanistan report out of 1000 projects of constructions 60% of them were not completed while with their financial resources fraud and misuse was committed IWA believes that the donors were routinely failed to carry

According to IWA findings, the unavailability of information and statistics regarding projects, expenditure of projects are not clear and the issue is same for many projects. This shows totally insufficient coordination of recipients and donors and causes failure of monitoring the implementation and no one can ask about statistics of spending. This is a problem with government of Afghanistan which has shown negligence with regards to these issues which has resulted in corrupted and incomplete projects in the country (IWA, 2013)

There are also such cases where the projects only remained on paper and funds were pocketed where plan was made but construction of a road was left damaged. However Ministry of Finance assures that it would be ready and prepared for accountability for 21% of aid which was spent in national budget.

About 60% of population in Afghanistan is under 25 since the average life span is 49. United States Agency for International Development decided to help this young group of population and believed this group of unskilled and neglected population are more in vulnerable conditions and are prone to join insurgency and so established a 3 year program for this generation to be productive society members of Afghanistan and allocated the program \$50 million. But Inspector General found that there is "little evidence" that this program had come near its goals after two years past. There is a darker image of this summary which show near-total failure of the program offered USAID has submitted this project to a contractor while didn't pay little attention to it

This is unfortunate to say that almost every project of foreign aid in Afghanistan has same fate

In a report by SIGAR it has revealed that total amount of funds of United States for nonmilitary sector, since 2002 it is some \$100 billion which is more than United States has ever allocated for rebuilding a country. This was data of July 2014, and after than Congress has pledged \$16.5 billion more for reconstruction. Saying all that huge amounts, neither Afghanistan's government nor United States has brought one single sustainable program or institution (World Affairs Journal, 2013).

4.1.10 Forms of Corruption

According to surveys conducted by several agencies, over 70 types of corruptions are there which have affected the people which are from public administration and elected bodies to Taliban, international aid and private sector. Most of victims of corruptions are reported to be affected from government institutions (Survey Asia Foundation).

4 1 10 1 Bribers

According to Asia Foundation survey people must pay bribes in Afghanistan to secure most of their public services. Another United Nation study shows that bribes are

almost the only source to rely on to complete most of public services. Petty briberies have been one cause of distress amount Afghanistan's citizen

Teachers, judges, custom officers and prosecutors are those employees who mostly receive bribes. According to a UN estimate in 2012-50% of population has paid bribes in that year where it believes in some parts of the country the percentage has raised to 70%. Doctors, paramedics and nurses are accountable for 15 to 20 percent of whole bribes. In 2013, 43% of population believed that civil servants are corrupt. In 52% of households, at least one member of them had applied for public jobs while 45% have paid bribes to secure the jobs.

4 1 10 2 Corruption in Education System

The biggest form of corruption exists in education sector which involves "ghost teachers' and sometimes teachers who are double-registered. According to SIGAR report it says that senior officials in this ministry were intentionally falsifying data on number of schools and teachers to over-bill international aid providers. Thus millions of dollars were used to pay funds for those nonexistent teachers and schools which were sort of encouraging dishonest officials of Afghanistan.

According to an article in Gulf Today in 2012, it has explored that in many schools there are not teachers or there are teachers who do not understand anything about their subjects, and teachers who cannot read or write 20% of aid budget for teachers'

salary in one province to actual teachers and rest went to education officers instead of ghost-teachers

4 1 10 3 Graft in Customs System

There is graft in within the customs system according December 2014. This phenomenon is the actual reason for the shortfall of revenue in of government. Since them little has been done to tackle the issue. Being custom agent is one of most well-earned jobs in Afghanistan and the job may be offered to an individual who is well-connected to corrupt officials in the provinces or in center. Experts believe the custom agents are one of primary sources of corruption (Tolonews, 2014).

41104 Cash Sinuggling

According to Washington Post reported in December 2012, United States had provided to Afghanistan with bulk currency counters in Kabul International Airport to help in preventing the cash smuggling while in response government of Afghanistan provided a way to bypass machines for VIPs

4 1 10 5 Nepotism and Patronage

Getting public jobs is based on nepotism and favoritism unfortunately and ment does not speak here. Overall patronage politics is central route of growing corruption in Afghanistan Patronage is century-long tradition in Afghanistan and now it has become integral part of society. Because of this issue individuals without connections have enormous difficulties to get positions in government. On the other hand corrupt officials enjoy impunity, the honest officials are denied from reaching powerful positions.

4 1 10 6 Judicial Corruption

According to UN and Transparency International majority of people in Afghanistan consider judiciary as most corrupt Judicial corruption is a common issue in the country that affects all levels of legal system. Corrupt individuals in Judiciary can fill their pockets with hundreds of thousands of dollars as bribes. Appointment of judges is as a result of "under-the-table deals" that are largely unqualified with legal standards. Judges are subject to pressure of warlords and other influential individuals in Afghanistan. There is no oversight by other branches of government which gives it open hand and transparency lacks even in Supreme Court decisions.

4 1 10 7 Corruption in Police Forces

The Afghanistan National Police (ANP) is considered corrupt and ministry is criticized for being failed to account for billions of dollars allocated for salaries of police through a United Nations administrated trust fund. Corruption of higher officials has rubbed half of the common police which have pushed them to take bribes from public

According to a survey in 2012 by Asia Foundation it has found that half of those people who dealt with police officers in previous years were been forced to pay bribes. From 2009, policemen in some parts of Afghanistan started to get their salaries though their cell phones which made it safe to from skimming off part or half of their salaries. In October 2014 the Fox News reported that police officers have stolen \$300 million from a UNDP fund used to pay to police officers. According to a 2015 report, some police officers have informed Taliban about operations for bribe.

41 108 Corruption in Military Forces

The National Army of Afghanistan is more professional than National Police but unfortunately faces misallocation of resources and bribery. It is also reported that Afghanistan Air Force officials were trafficking opium and weapons. As a report indicates, due to corruption Defense Department has lost account for 200000 weapons which were allotted to Afghanistan National Security Forces and Afghanistan National Police and report believes that these weapons were sold to Taliban

In another rare case, reported by Aljazeera, the oversight committee of Ministry of Defense reported that more than \$200 million was over paid to fuel contractors and later senior officials were fired and the contracts were cancelled. In May 2015, another

report was revealing that Afghanistan's forces were selling U S weapons to Taliban and most of light weapons supplied to Afghanistan's security forces were lost

4 1 10 9 Kabul Bank Scandal

The bank was established in 2004 as the first private bank after Taliban. Two individuals were founders of the bank namely, Khalilullah Feroze and Shirkhan Farnood. The Guardian has named Feroze as an individual who is second in rank to damage. Afghanistan after Taliban. Kabul Bank was put in charge of the payroll accounts for nation's civil servant, police officers and soldiers. Ex-President Karzai's brother Mahmood Karzai became third share-holder. It is reported that Kabul Bank has spent \$4 million in 2009 second election campaign for Karzai in return to get 430000 government accounts.

According to report, Farnood and Feroze drained the savings of depositors which was almost \$579 million and caused a deadlock so the bank collapsed. The scandal demolished confidences in public banking system and many foreign aid payments were dried. Feroze was convicted and was imprisoned for his role in Kabul Bank but in November 2015, instead of being kept in prison he signed a new contact with National Unity Government to build a huge real-estate called *Shahrak-Hoshmand* in Persian or Smart City

However President Karzai negates his role and other stakeholders in the collapsing of Kabul Bank. He expresses his views that the actual responsible is Embassy

of United States in Kabul He says in a meeting with General Petraeus and thenambassador of United States in Kabul, Dr. Rangin Dadfar Spanta chief advisor on
National Security. Omar Zakhilwal came in unannounced and during the meeting he
pointed out the issue of Kabul Bank to Ambassador. He told that some officials from
Embassy of United States were telling senior Bank staff to transfer money from Kabul
Bank to Dubai Banks. He says all this was the plan of United States. Through this they
wanted to put pressure on him to sign Strategic Agreement. When this was exposed by
Omar Zakhilwal, Finance Minister under Karzai, he says he was threatened after the
meeting by them and was told not to give any further comments about this

4 1 10 10 Zakhilwal Scandal

In August 2012, Omar Zakhilwal who was Finance Minister under Karzai and now Advisor to Ashraf Ghani, committed a huge fraud of more than \$1 million and transferred it to his bank account in Canada Zakhilwal was accused of hiring his relatives as senior customs officials. Upon impeaching him in parliament of Afghanistan, Zakhilwal charged several Members of Parliament with smuggling flour, processing more than 2000 illegal cars, smuggling oil tankers and alcohol and thus he secured his position. It was than where international aid and military organizations also encouraged corruption. They were granting contracts to Members of Parliament who owned illegal businesses.

Conclusion

As mentioned above working with fragile states is having its own troubles and hardships. In a scenario like Afghanistan, and list of challenges that International Community, particularly United States faces in Afghanistan is not a surprise. One of major issues giving birth to other issues is the lack of planning and coordination. Negligence of recipient government's national priorities and going for what donor believes better than owners of the land. Taking big decisions instead of others may give a donor leading role but it also gives a backlash. We can clearly observe from what United States has done till now from work of SIGAR which is a body for oversight of funds provided by United States. In most of the projects SIGAR has indicated that there were inadequate planning, poor quality assurance, and questionable sustainability. While these matters are not alone for one side, both United States as donor and government of Afghanistan are responsible for them. Unfortunate and miserable phenomenon of corruption brought hurdles on the way of advancement. It blocked the assistance in its direct form and inbudget mechanism. Indeed there were lack of capacity and ability to handle and use aid correctly in prioritized fields. United States and government of Afghanistan must take concrete actions to come up with solutions and pave the ways and to get fruitful results for their join efforts.

CHAPTER FIVE

MISMANAGEMENT IN COUNTERING THE ISSUES, CORRUPTION AND WASTE

There are always debates about corruption in Afghanistan Mostly this phenomenon is associated with government of Afghanistan and internal political system. According to Washington's political elite, Afghanistan's officials are the ones who are benefiting the most of this corruption. Over the years, it is perceived that politicians are ultimately gaining from corruption and believing so it means that failure to gain from reconstruction aid is due to corrupt political system in Afghanistan.

The state institutions of Afghanistan were having insufficiency to take leading role in effort of development so large portion of assistance for development which was aimed for reconstruction was spent through off-budget and non-state development actors. This caused in parallel institutions with government and most of aid funds were allocated to the conflict zones and areas to for stabilization. In Afghanistan, according to Integrity Watch Afghanistan's report

in 2013, aid for development was tied with security objectives which brought unjust and wrong distribution between provinces

Most of Afghanistan's population argue that volume of international aid was has not been used properly and they believe it is mainly due to overemphasis for the security sector which resulted in negligence to build other state institutions. According to Crisis Group, priorities of many donors including United States were for short term projects and impacts in those areas where international forces had presence. Funds were poured in Afghanistan not completely according to priorities of government and its people. The aid was not need-driven but donor driven. This mechanism of donor-driven has undermined the principle policy of international community to stabilize Afghanistan and to tackle the root causes of insurgency. If there isn't any change in the approach, objectives will not be achieved as required. The Asia report on aiding Afghanistan states that shift of strategy is a must thing to carryout to continue in a better way further engagement with Afghanistan.

There is a disagreement among civilian and military actors with regards to objectives of aid and how to get results from it. There is a big negative image about foreign donors and their efforts. Most of their projects are not sustainable, electricity comes from neighboring countries and military and police are paid from foreign aid. So far, reconstruction aid which has come to Afghanistan amounts to \$110 since 2001 (The Diplomat, 2015). But when we observe the development in the country, nothing is evident to prove it. Even in the capital of Afghanistan, where most of foreign investments, NGOs and businesses are active, the social development and infrastructure is still lacking. Other parts of the country that are almost no-go-zones due to security issues for foreigners lack basic services. So where has the money gone?

Such aid providence is called as phantom aid. According to ActionAid, it refers to the aid which never reaches to the recipients actually. The aid gets looted on the way when it reaches to destination.

There are also many problems with regards to spending and utilization of aid. One form of phantom aid is tied or conditional aid. This form of expenditure happens when aid is used to buy armament products. There are examples of utilization of aid on foreign technical assistance, salaries to foreign workers in Afghanistan. Donors have build projects for quick impacts like cheap roads and buildings in the country to win the hearts and minds, which is due to their national reputation and thus have prioritized over helping Afghanistan.

A significant amount of US aid to Afghanistan has been spent to gain military and political objectives but still there are not any sustainable achievements. More than half of its budget was used on four most insecure regions and provinces which is an example of mismanagement. For example according to USAID Report in 2007, if Helmand province was a state, it would be ranked as fifth largest recipient of United States' aid in the world which other secure regions needed funds to get more developed they were ignored. United States' either didn't want to bring real change and development or they were not aware of the priorities of people and government of Afghanistan. Their investment lacked enormously management and where to spend the funds.

Reports indicate that 40% of aid provided to Afghanistan for development was returning to the donor countries. Afghanistan was deprived of amount of \$10 billion of promised aid on one hand while 40% is returning home country through consultancy fees, and salaries so what should we expect from it. It has been also witnessed that western donors have failed to provide

aid they have promised together with phenomenon of corruption in their agencies and their efficiency undermines the results of peace in Afghanistan

The United States is the biggest donor to Afghanistan and it is in first rank due to shortfalls in aid. According to Afghanistan's governmental reports, United States has provided half of what it has committed to provide from 2002 to 2008. Most of projects conducted by United States were first given to some specific American companies where they committed fraud and resold it to other local companies and funds were misused and wrongly reported. For matter of example, we can indicate that a road from Great Ahmad Shah Massoud square to Kabul International Airport was built by Louis Berger Group which the company sub-contracted the project and reports by entity of Integrity Watch Afghanistan the road was build with expense of \$2.4 million per kilometer which is at least four times a road's construction in Afghanistan (IWA, 2007)

The biggest donor for Afghanistan is United States in all international donor community and friends of Afghanistan. Most of United States' aid is provided through its agency famous by name of USAID. According to reports by US-based Centre for Public Integrity, the agency allocated almost half of all its aid for five American contractors active in Afghanistan. These companies are lacking every factor of transparency, accuracy, organized work and accountability. Some of them are under fire for their committed fraud in their previous contracts within United States. United States government has awarded its contracts to KBR, the Louis Berger Group, Bearing Point, Dyncorp International and Chemonics which worth hundreds of millions of dollars. Most of the foreign consultants who are working in private companies in

Afghanistan cost a year starting from \$250000 to \$500000 which includes their allowances salaries and associated security expenses

There is a huge shortfall in providing the promised aid to Afghanistan According to reports, nearly 90 percent of public expenditure comes from International funds. The shortfall thus questions the struggles for rebuilding damaged and war-torn Afghanistan and delivery of necessary services are badly hindered (US-based Centre for Public Integrity, 2009). According to reports by Oxfam's policy adviser and authors of reports. Mr. Matt Waldman, reconstruction in Afghanistan requires firm and sustained commitments for aid and donors do not meet their promises. They have failed to provide what they have committed to provide to Afghanistan. On the other hand, most of the aid which is provided is uncoordinated, wasted and thus fails so it is ineffective.

On one hand failing to provide what international community of donors brings a hurdle in reconstruction process and on the other hand less coordination, waste and fraud brings another hurdle to get required results from huge investments in Afghanistan. The cost of war in Afghanistan estimated to cross \$700 billion which was crossing to the cost of invasion of Iraq in 2011. According to Commission on Wartime Spending, the estimate shows that in 2011, \$60 billion of United States expenditure have been lost due to fraud and waste.

5.1 Mismanagement, Corruption and Waste

To quote the expenses and waste in Afghanistan, we should concentrate on following examples and countless other hidden expenses which are due to come in future

In fact due to less cooperation of United States army personnel in Afghanistan, even special investigator for United States spending in Afghanistan fails to visit some reported projects in Afghanistan

5 1 1 Italian Made G222 Aircraft Case

In 2012, United States Department of Defense purchased 20 military planes for transportation purposes for Afghanistan's Air Force worth \$486 million. These Italian made aircraft which are known as G222, is just like replica which falls apart. 16 of them are uselessly sat in Kabul airport. This is a huge waste of money (National Journal, 2014). Why would they buy \$486 million worth aircraft that do not fly?

This investigation started in 2013 when it was noticed that G222 planes are in runway in Kabul. Then it was found that these were contracted in 2008. According to report by Aljazeera America, these planes just flied 234 of 4500 required hours, were diagnosed as "death traps" by pilots as they didn't have required spare parts.

Now what could they do next? They were sold as scrap metal for 6 cents per pound SIGAR's inspector general, Sopko is quoted to say, they are still trying to know who and why these were bought to International Business times SIGAR till date has unveiled more than \$104 billion which has been wasted because of fraud and mismanagement, allocated by United States to aid Afghanistan and the case of these planes are least to be worried by office of Inspector General

5.1.2 Missing \$300 Millions on Police Salaries

According to another recent report by SIGAR in year 2015, it has exposed that as big fraud of worth \$300 million has been spent on salaries for Afghanistan's Polices which is missing and there is no report to find where it has gone. Let's now judge what United States tells about corruption of government high ranking officers. There is no doubt government officials have learned corruption from their donor who is more corrupt. Apparently another contract was ended worth \$456000 for a training complex which does not exist actually (SIGAR audit report, 2015). Millions of dollars have been reportedly spent for Schools in Ghor province to quote as an example, but pupils are studying under shadows of trees and are in need of rugs to sit on and study while reports have been publish by United States agency that schools are built and they have gained bunch of successes due to enrollments of girls in schools. This is an eye-opening fact which must be pursued.

5.13 Daily Expense of United States Military

According to Waldman in his 2008 report about United States army spending, it says. United States' military's daily expense reaches to \$100 million, in a single day, while in average total expenditure of all donors together since 2001 reaches just \$7 million a day which show a big difference. What are they after? Yet what have they achieved? Terrorism and Taliban are gaining forces and might day by day and challenges.

to Afghanistan's forces and government is rising high. Young population is leaving the country and flooded towards west. What are they doing after all with their expenses?

5.1.4 Lixury Villas for TFBSO Unit

Another report by SIGAR unveils that Pentagon has spent \$150 million to rent luxury villas, meals and guards for its employees in Afghanistan. These expenses were authorized by United States' Defense Department for a small division of department of defense known as Task Force for Business and Stability Operations (TFBSO), which is responsible for stabilization of the economy of Afghanistan and Iraq. These expenses were noted between 2010 and 2014 which is 20 percent of TFBSO's budget, while report believes nothing have been achieved or the benefits the United States has received is unclear from these so much money being spent for luxury accommodation. It was also possible to live in US military bases which could save tens of millions of dollars, as report indicates. If not United States' military bases, it was also possible to accommodate them in United States' embassy which could cost only \$1.8 million as Inspector General's Office estimated.

5.1.5 Boats worth \$3 Million for a Landlocked Country

There is no doubt Afghanistan is a landlocked country it does not have any access to international sea. To protect illegal crossings of boarders, National Boarder

Police should have been supported with possible equipments. Instead. United States has spent amount of \$3 million dollars to by boats for Afghanistan. There is absolutely no sense in this. Eight patrol boats were ought to be given to Afghanistan Police which were never used. They were mainly due to deter smuggling and illegal entry in to Afghanistan and to transport supplies of government of Afghanistan, as they use the rational for it. Instead of shipping them to Afghanistan, boats were left unused in a warehouse in Virginia for more than four years, which costs \$3 million dollars. Upon asking the reason in series of inspections regarding the spending, military officials have been unable to give evidences and records which could justify and answer basic questions about purchase of \$3 million.

These boats were bought in 2010 by the Navy and after nine months it was decided to cancel it. But at that time 80% of funds regarding the contract were spent so it was left up to completion. There is lack of paperwork and proofs as indicated by John F. Sopko, Inspector General, which has been hindering the ability of entity SIGAR to conduct overseeing the reconstruction aid for Afghanistan. However this is not the first time which entity has faced such lapses with regards to record keeping.

But there is a serious problem with regards to boats. First the nearest port is about 1000 miles away in Karachi, Pakistan. Secondly, Afghanistan's National Security Forces hardly can maintain their basic equipments and can locate their spare parts, how they can or will manage to fix the broken boats.

5 1 6 \$43 Million for a Single Gas Filling Station

Another strange thing has happened in the north part of country by United States and the small unit TFBSO aiming to boost business in Afghanistan. This time Pentagon has spent \$43 million to build a single gas station which is estimated to be more than 140 times expensive than a station built in neighboring Pakistan.

Department of Defense was responsible for the construction and the Task Force for Stability and Business Operations carried out the step and since the unit is not now working, thus Pentagon has reason to believe it is not anymore responsible to give information regarding the details of the unit's activities in Afghanistan

The station was aiming to support Afghanistan to cope with problems of importing petroleum and to use its domestic energy but since Afghanistan does not have any infrastructure for natural gas transmission, it is now useless. The cost to change gasoline cars to use natural gas is about \$700 per car and the average income per annum in the country is \$700 which is not easy to cover the cost. According to Sopko he believed that there is no reason behind it and it is not clear why would TFBSO convinced to take such huge amount of money spent on CNG station. He says, the lack of transparency and accountability is disgraceful and Department of Defense (MoD) needs to be clean hold people accountable for waste of tax-dollars to remain trustworthy.

As Sopko estimates, United States' taxpayers have spent more than \$103 since 2002 to rebuild Afghanistan which is more than United States spent over any single country. It is more than expenditure for post war United Kingdom, Japan and Germany

Aiding Afghanistan was like bringing money and throwing it in to Afghanistan and thinking like we are in Kansas, says John F. Sopko in an interview quoted by Star Tribune News

5.1.7 Soybean Initiative worth \$34 million with Failed Results

Despite there were no match between Afghanistan's north and cultivation of soybeans there, this program was started to convince people to growth the product and like it. This project was started in 2010 in northern Afghanistan by United States. Department of Agriculture. There were two main issues as number one the crop was not fit to grow in the region and second people were not interested to grow or eat it. How the project started is something questionable despite two big reasons not to start the program.

This program was a total mistake and waste of money because it was predictable and practically foreseen so it could be avoided. Even SIGAR was convinced that the results would be better upon time but still there is no market for the product. Another example regarding agricultural products is about seeds and tree sapling distribution program. According to report of ProPublica which is an independent, non-profit newsroom who publishes investigative journalism in the public interest, it was advised from local government that this program could face failure due to corruption and theft but USAID agency went on to implement the program which resulted in waste of almost \$8 million.

5 1 8 Unused Communication Towers worth \$6 5 Million

According to figures of SIGAR, Department of State has spent \$6.5 million to stand telecommunication towers knowing the maintenance cost is more than ability of communication companies in Afghanistan. They implement their own idea to build the towers even several local officials from Afghanistan, from Department of State and Department of Defense officials warned them about its costs. The towers are now not used due to high cost of generators that use fuel

5 19 Countering Narcotics While it still hits high in the Sky

United States has spent about \$7.6 billion on countering narcotics since 2001 in Afghanistan According to official reports the cultivation has decreased by 50 percent in 2014 which seems a good progress but this progress in undermined when it's checked. The decrease is not due to counter-narcotics programs and expenditures of United States but it was because of environmental factors like droughts. According to the report of SIGAR, the only improvements in the production are due to Mother Nature, as Inspector General Sopko says in an interview with Star Tribune News.

Almost \$8 billion has been spent in this part. But what are the results let's be realistic. Afghanistan is the leader in production of heroin in the world. Their plans to find alternative products have only led to cultivate more poppies than before. Law enforcement trainings were insufficient despite \$109 million were used on education and substance abuse treatment programs.

According to UN Office on Drags and Crime, Afghanistan income from heroin is significantly high. It makes up to \$3 billion a year which is 10-15 percent of country's GDP. It only deviate Afghanistan's financial system and brings hurdles to law enforcement and legitimacy of government while strengthening criminal networks and supports insurgent groups and particularly Taliban. Afghanistan is now growing more poppy than it was growing under Taliban regime. According to UN report in 2009 Taliban were earning \$75 million to \$100 million from poppy cultivation each year and in 2005 estimates show that they are now earning \$90 million to \$160 million each year.

According to another UN report, it believes that the focus on military victory has proven very insufficient to encourage poor farmers to grow legal crops and this was due to less focus on poverty reduction and food security. According to report by ProPublica in 2015, it has found that amount \$108 million has been spent on treatment and prevention programs of drug and all the gains are nothing. It's a total waste of money

Department of States and Pentagon blamed Karzai's government for not providing enough support for these efforts. On the other hand Karzai in an interview with Tolonews blames foreigners and asks, "How these products are sold and where does the money go?"

5.1.10 Prison with Cotton Walls

There is another misuse of funds in Afghanistan. In northern Afghanistan a building for prison was built by United States which cost more than \$11 million through

USAID funding. This was built to house for 500 prisoners which is already falling apart before it was used. This was on a "seismic fault line" without any sort of pre-safeguard measures as reports indicate.

5 1 11 Roads built with \$2 Billion

Afghanistan's government and its people have been always thankful for the generous aid provided for Afghanistan's reconstruction. Worth \$2 billion of aid is spent on roads. But these roads cost more than the capability of government of Afghanistan. According to a UN report, 85% of these roads are not drivable. When something is not sustained it ends up with a failure so does the roads. These roads were built on United. States weight standards and in Afghanistan they don't set. More over trucks here are often overweight so it adds to quicker cracking.

5 1 12 Unused Military Base

According to SIGAR report, another huge funded project was build worth \$3 9 million was ought to be a base for Afghanistan National Army which was found to unused due to lack of dining facility

While another border Police headquarters was built with \$7.3 million in Kundoz province in northern Afghanistan for 175 personnel but it was found later upon inspection

that only 12 people are living there. This was also remaining unused since the completion of building

Some \$19 million border police base was built in Nangarhar province which was recorded that it was used as chicken coop instead of housing police personnel, say office of Inspector General. These are few examples to quote from wasteful spending and fraud by Umited States' agency. The bad part is that these mismanagements are used to count the numbers in terms of millions and name it as aiding Afghanistan's security and its security forces.

USAID, Department of State and the Military all have keen to open ceremonies and shake hands as SIGAR says but they are not looking for the results after they cut the ribbons. For example Pentagon has built more than 1000 infrastructures for National Army and Police of Afghanistan but never had an insight whether they are used

5 1 13 Unneeded Military Base

There is another waste of government of United States for spending \$36 million according to National Journal, an American analytical journal on a headquarter facilities at Camp Leatherneck where Afghanistan's military officials believe it's not really needed It's reported that current plan is to close the base next year

5 1 14 Afghanistan's Security Forces

It's unfortunate to say, Afghanistan's security forces cannot maintain its numbers and equipments and buildings. Recently it's true to say they cannot maintain their front lines, look at Kundoz and recent issue of Sangin district in Helmand province. To date, security forces are the most forwarded sector that have received \$65 billion which is almost 60% of whole reconstruction aid. It was planned to create a well schooled and strong national army and police and air force so that they will be able to secure their country by their own. But again corruption in Afghanistan has undermined the efforts. According to ProPublica report's in 2015 estimate having a strong and large in counts.—
352,000 personnel - with modern equipments costs \$5 billion per year which cannot be maintained by Afghanistan in current situation. Afghanistan's 70% population is illiterate and percentage in new recruits is more than that as only 13% can barely write a basic sentence.

5 1 15 Hospital worth \$597929 in a Small Village

United States has spent amount estimated as equal to \$597929 for a hospital in Salang's small village in north Afghanistan which was paid to a local company. The terms of contract was not followed by the contractors which are lacking "serious safety concerns" and newborn babies are washed with untreated river water as SIGAR's inspection reports.

5 1 16 Governance Programs worth \$400 Million

The aim to start the program of Local Governance and Community Development was to stabilize communities for long term governmental, social and economical success USAID provided funds to the program even through it was never able to gain the objectives and it could not keep the track of what contractors were doing there Still USAID doubled the funds to the program which reached \$373 million (Propublica, 2015)

Mostly in the tracking their performance, they often show the figures and outputs not the results and outcomes. For example, USAID has trained 650 judges but there is nothing insight about it whether they are working in judicial sector.

5 1 17 Unfinished Courthouse worth \$396 Thousand

This was planned to be built for Afghanistan National Security trials which was abandoned due to low planning. As SIGAR's staffer responsible for the project inspection says, it is the grossest display of incompetence. The in charge person was not qualified and has said to SIGAR that he had no idea what he was doing

A local contractor was hired to build the courthouse which was only six months in business and there were little documentations on how and why this contractor was chosen. With just little foundation of the building done, contractor disappeared with amount of \$400000 with him and the project was abandoned.

Such examples are result of poor planning and mismanagement which cause hundreds of millions of dollars to go in waste. There is no single responsible chain of

command for efforts of reconstruction USAID, Pentagon and Department of State run each their own programs without coordination which results in contradictory programs and fails overall reconstruction efforts

What United States needs is to observe international and national level of recommendations for the further aid being provide to Afghanistan in next decade. To have better results from aid United States should consider needs and priorities of Afghanistan Local capacity should be recruited who understands Afghanistan and its needs far better than foreign employees. United States should focus more on long term sustainable sectors. Its efforts should reflect the real interests of United States. The interest of United States is to bring a peaceful and prosperous Afghanistan that defends itself against terrorists. Afghanistan that can play key role in fight against terrorism, a key ally of United States and a country which is no more safe heavens to terrorism.

Conclusion

All being said, there is no doubt now that most of decisions were taken in Washington D C for the reconstruction efforts in Afghanistan. The efforts were undermined by lack or no seriousness since most of the roads for example were falling apart before submitting them for use. We can say that it was fault of local contractors that brand new roads were falling apart but real problem is that the guidelines provided by Americans were not matching with the situation

Most of times they do not talk to government of Afghanistan and they create a program or take steps for creating something and they leave it without any use. They do not ask whether

government and people of Afghanistan really need these things or not. Priorities for Afghanistan and its people have been other areas than for United States. The aid approach of United States had and has proven totally wrong priorities.

As mentioned above, the aid provided by United States is not unified with other international donors. International community together with United States should build an integrated planning to have joint assessments and work together with government of Afghanistan where Afghanistan must be play leading role. Priorities of Afghanistan should be the key to get results from the efforts. As much as Afghanistan involvement would be agreed at same time there would be well guaranteed positive results.

The actions of international community should be in a system of coordination in Afghanistan. The further aid should be brought to Afghanistan through well coordination of major donors including in fact United States. Terrorism starts and ends in Afghanistan so United States should equip the Afghanistan National Army with full strength to make them able to defend their land and not to wait as always for aerial support from NATO and United States.

Donors should follow the principles of empowering the communities and democratization of planning through encouraging better sub-national level participation. They should also be accountable and provide information and reporting regarding projects which are handled off-budget in various areas of Afghanistan. Moreover they should by now at least understand that engaging in short-term investments and getting speedy results will not help Afghanistan. They should combine their efforts to build sustainable institutions and durable developments so that Afghanistan could stand on its feet. It is however not an easy task, theory is always different

from practical, but if their objective is to bring stability to warn torn country—they must repair and or rebuild the damaged institutions

CHAPTER SIX

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Today after more than 14 years of international community's engagement and efforts Afghanistan is struggling to overcome the issues of multiple wars over past three decades. It is still facing insecurity, forced internal displacement and very limited access to humanitarian services. Although the country is a major recipient of humanitarian assistance but due to many issues like complexity of financing and controversies has made it difficult to reach its goals.

According to estimates in 2015, since attacks on United States on September 2001, United States has spent \$1 trillion including \$110 billion of its aid to rebuild Afghanistan which is reportedly with poor, violent and corrupt results. Conditions in Afghanistan are at no better position despite it has received billions of dollars. It is still in a vulnerable position and that's more dangerous since the security transition has occurred. As reports indicated above, the United States has been less accountable for what it has done in the name of aid to Afghanistan. It has spent its worthy dollars but there are no reasonable results. The actions speak louder than the

words and figures in this case to phrase it. Little amount was allocated for reconstruction, for hospitals, for schools which are sectors where people of Afghanistan need them the most. The school enrolment numbers has raised and there is no doubt, but it is only in few areas and places. Most of schools are still running with old books and no building. Badakhshan was a peaceful province until recent insurgencies of mid-2015 where pupils study school in shadows of trees and some parts where United States reports to aid education sector worth millions of dollars, they are not real and in reality no schools are there and certainly in some cases there are ghost-teachers.

United States must seriously follow the recommendations to accelerate the positive effectiveness of her aid in Afghanistan. A new network and system of coordination should be created which includes government of Afghanistan, its people and international donors to make sure the money flow to Afghanistan should focus on poverty reduction creating new employments, strengthening education system and health services. This will allow local authorities in Afghanistan to make sure aid affects positively the ordinary critizens of the country. Until now most of aid budget has been spent on security related expenses while there are no good results. If there are no positive changes in economic and social conditions of people, safety and security will not be enough to bring stability and peace in the country. There is no doubt security is of big importance but without economic, social and political stability there will not be capability to have sustainable security.

From now on it should be focused on social and economic development, education, health, rural and urban development and agriculture. Basic services should be a main concentration for the government of Afghanistan at provincial and district levels to gain

Afghanistan in some areas of the country which are constantly exploited by insurgent groups must be filled with accountability and respect for the basic rights and perquisites of people. The government of Afghanistan hugely bears responsibility and must take serious steps to fight corruption which is a cancer for the current political and economic arena in the country. Good governance principles must be observed to tackle the issues and bring effectiveness.

It is of extreme importance to involve people of Afghanistan in recreating and reviving their lives through reforms in economic social and institutions sectors so that they find new opportunities

United States of America must assure of its commitments to bring peace to the country and region. If International Community and United States fail to bring prosperity and change in lives of ordinary citizen in the country, it might allow setting up mindset for some that United States' war is actually against Muslims while some have this view and are joining insurgents.

There is no doubt that significant differences are achieved through aid but there are some weaknesses which are undermining the aid to reduce the poverty. United States as a major donor and government of Afghanistan as aid recipient must follow these recommendations to increase aid effectiveness. As Madam Gulalai Akbari deputy head of Senate Committee on Defense says, we should be thankful to all international donors and specially. United States for its efforts and aid which was provided to Afghanistan. At the same time they should increase their aid and on the other hand both United States and the government of Afghanistan should be accountable and must fight corruption.

The amount of aid must be increased in sectors related to development and humanitarian aid to Afghanistan. United States and other donors must allocate more funds through in-budget for Afghanistan. Government of Afghanistan must strengthen its efforts to increase domestic revenue.

Distribution of aid should be provided to provinces based on an objective and comprehensive assessment and according to their needs in reconstruction, humanitarian and development sectors. There is no doubt that security is an important factor in all provinces, but it should be strictly considered to distribute resources on equal bases with increased level of support for those areas which are having greater needs in development and humanitarian sectors.

The primary objective of aid donors should be poverty reduction and programs should be started only after they are assessed with needs of citizens. Aid should be directed to those programs where the direct affects are on people who live in rural areas. Other donors and United States must address and align their priorities with Afghanistan National Development Strategy (ANDS) which focuses mainly on poverty reduction in the country

Transparency and accountability is one of pivotal importance for both United States and Government of Afghanistan. As we discussed above United States was having big troubles with its programs, implementations and objectives. We discussed that there were issues regarding the assessment and long-term result based which brought millions of dollars lose and waste due to mismanagement in its agency and policies regarding prioritizing the sectors. Full information should be provided regarding aid flows of United States and other donors while ownership should be maximized by Afghanistan's government and aid provided must be increased in inbudget.

There are some specific recommendations for government of Afghanistan so that it should be able to gain trust of International Community and United States as a major donor Government of Afghanistan must bring improvements in execution of budget and implementing capacities of ministers. It should bring wide reforms in public administration and especially in civil services. It should work to strengthen financial management system. The anti-corruption strategy must be implemented with serious steps and to enhance the transparency monitoring and audit. The government of Afghanistan should bring reforms in governance and build institutional capacities at local level and should pave the way of participation of civil society and communities to design, implement, direct and monitor activities regarding development.

It's the time to reset all the procedures of pouring aid and taking a look in to what has been done to Afghanistan and in the name of Afghanistan If these matters are not taken seriously in to consideration United States and International Community will have to lose all what they have done in Afghanistan which will result in loss

REFERENCES

- ActionAid, (2003) "Real aid and Phantom aid",
 (http://www.actionaid.org.uk/pop_index.asp^page_id=100475), (retrieved on 19 Nov 2015)
- Afghanistan National Development Strategy 2008 2013
- Akbarı, Gulalai Interview, date 20 Dec 2015
- AllGov, (2015) "Wasted spending in Afghanistan keeps sky rocking as U S military blows millions on another unneeded Operation Center", (http://www.allgov.com/news/top-stories/wasted-spending-in-afghanistan-keeps-skyrocketing-as-us-military-blows-millions-on-another-unneeded-operations-center-150905?news=857353) (retrieved on Nov 2015)
- AusAid, Commonwealth of Australia (2011) "Framework for working in fragile and conflict-affected states – Guideline for staff" (retrieved June 2015)
- Baiocchi, Dave (2011) 'Measuring Army Deployments to Iraq and Afghanistan',
 RAND corporation
- Bizhan N & Seema G (2009) Handbook "Contracting out government functions and services" OECD, (pp 101-102)
- Bizhan, Nimatullah "The limits of United States aid to Afghanistan",
 http://southasia foreignpolicy.com/posts/2014/09/04/the_limits_of_us_aid_in_afghanistan
 (retrieved 4 09 2014)
- Boghani, Priyanka (2015) Frontline, "Nobody's been held accountable for wasteful spending in Afghanistan", (http://www.pbs.org/wgbh/frontline/article/nobodys-been-held-accountable-for-wasteful-spending-in-afghanistan-says-u-s-watchdog/) (retrieved on Oct 2015)
- Brinkly, Joel (2013) Money Pit The monstrous failure of US Aid to Afghanistan,
 (www worldaffairsjournal org/articles/money/pit/the/monstrous/failure/of/us/aid/to/afghanistan) (retrieved on 20 08 2014)
- Berry, Chris (2009) A Framework for Assessing the Effectiveness of the Delivery of Education Aid in Fragile States

- CIA Fact book, (2010) (https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/af.html) (retrieved on Dec 2014)
- Davenport Christian (2015) "How the Pentagon spent \$43 million on a single gas station", (https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/checkpoint/wp/2015/11/02/how-the-pentagon-spent-43-million-on-a-single-gas-station/) (retrieved on Dec 2015)
- Dawson, Chester (2012) "Donors Pledge \$16 Billion Afghan Aid, With New Strings".
 (www online wsj com/articles/donors/pledge/\$16/billion/afghan/aid/with/new/strings)
 (retrieved on 1 10 2014)
- Doushicht (2007) "Challenges to Karzai government", Sec. 14,
 (http://www.esalat.org/images/Chalesh%20hay%20Hokomat%20Karzai.htm) (retrieved on Jan 2015)
- Fishstein, Paul & Wilder, Andrew "Winning Hearts and Minds, Examining the Relationship between Aid and Security in Afghanistan", Jan 2012
- Hancock, Louise (2012) "Aid must work better for Afghans in the next decade", Oxfam Afghanistan,
- Huff Post Politics (2014) "New Detailshttp://huffpost.com/us/entry/7346858
- Ibrahimkheil, Shakeela (2014) IWA releases report on corruption in Afghanistan, Integrity Watch Afghanistan (IWA) (www.tolonews.com/en/afghanistan/16678-iwa-releases-report-on-corruption-in-afghanistan) (retrieved on 09 09 14)
- Integrity Manual Afghanistan (2009) "Working on integrity Afghanistan"
- Integrity Manual Afghanistan, UNDP (2009) "Manual for Practitioners"
- Integrity Watch Afghanistan (2008) "Bringing Accountability Back In, from subjects of aid to Citizens of the State"
- Integrity Watch Afghanistan (2009) "Integrity Manual for Practitioners"
- Integrity Watch Afghanistan (2013) "Aid Effectiveness at Sub-National Level, a study of provincial development committees"
- Integrity Watch Afghanistan (2013) "Aid Effectiveness at Sub-National Level"
- International Crisis Group "Aid and Conflict in Afghanistan" (2011) Asia Report
- Leiby, Richard (2014) "John Sopko is fighting corruption in afghansitan and making noise while he's at it", (https://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/style/john-sopko-is-fighting-corruption-in-afghanistan-and-making-noise-while-hes-at-

__ _ _

- 11/2014/05/26/eac55c1e-e03c-11e3-810f-764fe508b82d_story html) (retrieved on Oct 2015)
- Lutz, Catherine & Desai, Sujaya "US Recostruction Aid for Afghanistan The Dollars and Sense", Jan 2015
- McCloskey, Asher, Groeger & Wei (2015) (http://www.propublica.org/) (retrieved Dec 2015)
- McCLoskey, Asher, Groeger & Wei (2015) "We blew \$17 billion in Afghanistan How would you have spent it?" ProPublica (https://projects.propublica.org/graphics/afghan) (retrieved on Dec 2015)
- National Journal (2014) "Waste and Fraud in Afghanistan great hit collections",
 (http://www.nationaljournal.com/defense/2014/02/11/waste-fraud-afghanistan-greatest-hits-collection9mref=scroll), (retrieved on July 2014)
- New York Times (2011) "World Bank issues alert on Afghanistan Economy",
 (http://www.nytimes.com/2011/11/23/world/asia/world-bank-issues-alert-on-afghanistan-economy.html) (retrieved 21 09 2014)
- Nicholas L & Peter C (2005) Aid Instruments in Fragile States
- NZAID. (2008) 'Guideline on Applying Aid Effectiveness Principles in Fragile States and Situations"
- OECD Analysis (2013) "Review on Evaluation and Assessment Framework",
 (http://www.oecd.org/edu/school/oecdreviewonevaluationandassessmentframeworksforimprovingschooloutcomes.htm) (retrieved Nov 2014)
- Offenbach, Seth (2012) Explaining the deepening Morass of Afghanistan, H-Diplo
- Operational Policy and Country Services (OPCS) and Resource Mobilization Department (FRM), International Development Associations (2007) "Operational Approaches and Financing in Fragile States"
- Oxfam Report (2014)
 (http://www.oxfam.org/sites/www.oxfam.org/files/ACBAR_aid_effectiveness_paper_08
 03 pdf) (retrieved on Aug 2014)
- Paris Decl & ACCRA (2005 08) "The Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness and the Accra Agenda for Action"
- Rashid (2000) Taliban

- Rosenberg, Ahmad (2014) "US Aid to Afghans flows on despite warnings of misuse",
 New York Times, (www nytimes com/pages/world/asia/us-aid-to-afghans-flows-on-despite-warnings-of-misuse) (retrieved on 25 03 2014)
- Royt, M Ismail (2005) "Challenges to government of Afghanistan", In Persian
 Language, (http://www.kotiposti.net/msaleha/nai_3/2/p_4 html), (retrieved on Sept 2015)
- RT News (2015) (6 NATO troops killed in Afghanistan, part of Helmand seized), (https://www.rt.com/news/326648-taliban-troops-attacks-afghanistan/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=RSS) (retrieved on Dec 2015)
- RT News (2015) "Afghanistan 'a disaster from start to finish," says war veteran as
 Taliban advance in Helmand", (https://www.rt.com/uk/326690-helmand-taliban-british-soldiers/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=RSS) (retrieved Dec 2015)
- RT News (2015) "Pentagon spent \$150 million on luxury vials for employees in Afghanistan", (https://www.rt.com/usa/324670-pentagon-luxury-villas-Afghanistan/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=RSS) (retrieved on Dec 2015)
- Rubin, Alissa J (2008) "Afghanistan Bringing Accountability Back In, from Subjects of Aid to Citizens of the State" (retrieved Nov 2015)
- Sadeq, Musadeq (2008) "US Aid to Afghanistan by the numbers, Associated Press" (retrieved on Sept 2014)
- Sieff, Kevin & Davenport, Christian (2014) "U S spent \$3 million on boats for Afghanistan that were never used, Inspector general says", (https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/economy/us-spent-3-million-on-boats-that-were-never-used-ig-says/2014/06/12/3c257f32-f242-11e3-9ebc-2ee6f81ed217_story.html) (retrieved on Dec 2015)
- SIGAR Testimony "Testimony Before the Committee on Oversight and Government Reform", Statement of John F. Sopko, (April 2013)
- Speri, Alice (2014) "The US just can't stop blowing billions in Afghanistan",
 (https://news.vice.com/article/the-us-just-cant-stop-blowing-billions-in-afghanistan)
 (retrieved on Oct 2015)
- Suhrke, Astri (2009) "When more is less The International Project in Afghanistan"

- The National UAE News (2001) "Ahmad Shah Massoud Assassinated",
 (http://www.thenational.ae/news/world/south-asia/ahmad-shah-massoud-assassinated)
 (retrieved 25 08 2014)
- Traywack, Catherine A (2013) "So much for exporting Democracy Afghanistan is as corrupt as North Korea". (http://antimoneylaundering.eu/2014/02/12/so-much-forexporting-democracy-afghanistan-is-as-corrupt-as-north-korea/) Retrieved (Nov 2014)
- UK Department for International Development (2010) "Afghanistan Public Expenditure Review", Security Sector
- UPI News Website (2014) (www upi com/Top_News/World-News/2010/03/31/UN-report-on-poverty-in-Afghanistan/UPI-38721270011610)
- USAID (Nov 2014) "Agriculture Fact Sheet"
- USAID (Jan 2015) "Democracy and Governance Factsheet"
- USAID (Nov 2014) "Economic Growth Factsheet"
- USAID (July 2014) "Education Factsheet"
- USAID (Nov 2014) "Gender Factsheet"
- USAID (June 2014) "Health Factsheet"
- USAID (Oct 2014) "Humanitarian Factsheet"
- USAID (Aug 2014) "Infrastructure Factsheet"

_ _ _

- USIAD (Nov 2014) "Health Factsheet"
- Wadham, Cookman & Dear (2008) "Afghanistan needs more than Money, American Progress Organization", (http://americanprogress.org/tag/afghanistan-needs-more-than-money) (retrieved on Sept 2014)
- Waldman, Matt (2008) "Aid effectiveness in Afghanistan"
- Washington Examiner (2014) "Afghanistan Watchdog is relentlessly tackling corruption", (http://washingtonexaminer.com/afghanistan-watchdog-is-relentlessly-tackling-corruption-with-no-plans-to-let-up/article/2548946) (retrieved on Nov 2015)
- World Bank (2014)
 (http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH XPD TOTL ZS/countries/1W⁹display=default)
 (retrieved on 15 09 2014)
- World Bank (2014) (http://data worldbank org/indicator/NY GDP PCAP CD) (retrieved 26 09 2014)

- World Bank, (2014) (http://data.worldbank.org/country/afghanistan) (retrieved 23 09 2014)
- World Bank/African Development Bank, (2008) Providing Budget Aid in Situations of Fragility, (A WB – ADBC Approach Paper)